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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the results of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021.

ANNUAL REVIEW

2021 was a difficult year for the real estate industry, with the
Chinese housing market slumping after a rise and experiencing a
significant growth recession. However, generally speaking, the
sales, development and investment scale of the Chinese real
estate industry continued to grow, with the housing market
gradually moving towards a stage of stable, healthy and quality
development.

2021 was an unusual year. Challenged by the complex and
volatile property market condition in the PRC, the Henan floods,
and the COVID-19 situation, the Group has adopted a scientific
approach to making progress while maintaining stability. We
have actively integrated our marketing system, firmly
implemented a high-turnaround operation model, and adopted
various measures to develop and expand our projects while
achieving stable and healthy growth. Meanwhile, the Group
actively undertook its corporate social responsibility and
participated in many charitable events. We have donated
approximately RMB5.29 million in total in response to the
COVID-19 epidemic and the floods and on the 9/9 Charity Day.

In 2021, Xuchang Hengda was awarded the honorary title of “An
Iconic Industrial Brand in China” at the China Brand Boao
Summit, and was also named a “Real Estate Company Worthy of
Attention from the Capital Market in 2021”. Projects such as
Xuchang Hengda Mingzhu and Hengda Xinzhu were rolled out
one after another. The Beihai Longcheng project was named a
“Good Exemplary Urban Project 2021-2022”". The Hengda
Heyuan and Yuzhou Binhefu projects were rated as “The Most
Beautiful Construction Sites”, and the latter was also named a
“Good Exemplary Urban Project 2021”.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

In 2021, the Group established and acquired equity interests in
the following nine companies: (I) Xuchang Hengrong Property
Development Company Limited* (FF &M 1E 4 B ERZE AR AF);
(I Xuchang Hengchi Property Development Company
Limited* (FF&EHFEERZEERAF]); () Xuchang Hengzhu
Property Development Company Limited* (f S18 & E i E R 2 A
fR2A]); (IV) Yanling Wanhong Real Estate Company Limited* (&8
EEESLEBEFEABMRAA), (V) Yanling Zhengli Property
Development Company Limited* (B8pE %% BUE B i E A R AR);
(V1) Yuzhou Taiyu Property Development Company Limited* (&1
MHEBEMEMBEABR AR, (V) Changge Jiahe Real Estate
Company Limited* (EE MR & #EBR A F]); (VII) Xuchang
Yonghong Property Development Company Limited* (FF &K ERE
ERMBEARAT); and (IX) Henan Hengzhi Construction
Engineering Design Company Limited* (A EEEGEE TR RAE
fR A 7F]), to enhance the coverage of our property sales and
integrate the upstream portion of the supply chain.

Over the past 29 years of our development, the Group has
always adhered to the principle of “Integrity Management,
Fulfilling Every Promise” as we steadily moved forward and
continued to develop new projects and contribute to urban
development efforts as a provider of quality lifestyle services and
a city operator.

ANNUAL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s total revenue
was approximately RMB2,767.7 million, representing an increase
of approximately 14.3% from approximately RMB2,422.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the net profit was approximately RMB303.2
million, representing an increase of approximately 7.3% from
approximately RMB282.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK6.0 cents per ordinary share (equivalent to approximately
RMB5.0 cents per ordinary share) for the year ended 31
December 2021.
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OUTLOOK

In 2021, faced with the complexities of the COVID-19 situation in
the PRC and the stringent external conditions, the development
of the Chinese economy was under multiple pressures.
Nevertheless, as epidemic prevention and control requirements
became normalized, the overall economy showed signs of a
good recovery.

In 2021, as shown from the real estate trends provided by the
National Bureau of Statistics, the total construction area of new
property projects in the PRC saw a significant drop, and the
growth rate of sales area of commercial properties slowed down.
Coupled with the fact that relevant regulatory policies continued
to tighten in the three previous quarters, property developers
have been more reliant on sales returns and fundraises, and a
growing number of companies, including major real estate
players have been defaulting on their debt payments. On the
whole, the entire industry has been experiencing unprecedented
pressure.

Looking ahead to 2022, given the increasingly complex external
environment in the PRC and disruptions to global economic
growth resulting from COVID-19 control measures, the Chinese
economy is still likely to face immense downward pressures.
However, with the gradual recovery of the domestic economic
circulation and the relaxation of COVID-19 response measures,
China’s economic growth is expected to remain stable.

In 2022, economic stability remains the top priority for the real
estate industry in the PRC. Normal financing requirements for
enterprises are likely to be relaxed as compared to 2021, and
regulatory policies may be eased. In the long run, the primary
tasks for the real estate industry are to speed up the elimination
of weaker performers and promote a positive development cycle
and healthy growth of the industry.

In 2021, under the combined influence of the floods and the
COVID-19 epidemic, Henan Province has won two tough battles,
namely COVID-19 prevention and control, and post-flood
recovery. Its overall economy remained stable.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE

2022 will be a crucial year for Henan Province to speed up the
implementation of its new development plan, for Henan is
bearing the responsibilities of establishing such plan that will
promote the development of China’s central regions, protect the
ecology along the Yellow River, achieve quality development, and
accomplish other national strategies, to proactively carry out all
duties under the national strategy. On 21 December 2021,
Henan’s first Xuchang-Zhengzhou-Europe express freight train
departed for Europe carrying medical supplies. Henan now
functions as a logistical hub for China to bolster international
relations, which in turn will add momentum to the province.

In 2022, based on our established strategic plan, the Group will
analyze the various problems encountered in our operations in
2021 scientifically to reach a careful conclusion, as well as do
the following: (I) gather our strengths and adopt various
measures to clear our excess inventory stock; (Il) break down
our major operation targets and strive for business efficiency; (lll)
improve our financial management to accurately observe
financing policies; (IV) strengthen our construction management
to optimize product designs; (V) create reasonable budget plans
to reduce project costs while increasing efficiency; and (VI)
increase brand influence and enhance digitalization.

In 2022, the Group will continue to march forward to embark on
a new journey, take big steps to achieve breakthroughs, and
create more beautiful chapters in our operations.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHRE
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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INDUSTRY REVIEW

On 17 January 2022, the National Bureau of Statistics issued a
report on the “Development and Investment of Real Estates in
the PRC in 2021”. According to the latest statistics therein,
investment in real estate development in the PRC in 2021
amounted to approximately RMB14,760,200 million, representing
an increase of approximately 4.4% as compared to the previous
year. Of which, investment in residential properties amounted to
approximately RMB11,117,300 million, representing an increase of
approximately 6.4% as compared to 2020. Investment in real
estate development in the eastern region of China amounted to
approximately RMB7,769,500 million, representing an increase of
approximately 4.2% as compared to the previous year. The
investment in the central region amounted to approximately
RMB3,116,100 million, representing an increase of approximately
8.2% as compared to the previous year. The investment in the
western region amounted to approximately RMB3,336,800
million, representing an increase of approximately 2.2% as
compared to the previous year. The investment in the north-
eastern region was approximately RMB537,800 million,
representing a decrease of approximately 0.8%. Analysis of the
above data shows that investment growth slowed down,
especially in the northeast region, whereas that of the central
region remained stable, evidencing that the central region has
been demonstrating its strengths as a populous area.

According to the National Bureau of Statistics, the total
construction area of new property projects of real estate
enterprises was approximately 1,988,950 thousand sg.m.,
representing a decrease of approximately 11.4% as compared to
2020. Of which, the total construction area of new residential
projects was 1,463,790 thousand sg.m., representing a decrease
of approximately 10.9% as compared to 2020. In addition, the
total sales area of commercial properties of real estate
enterprises was 1,794,330 thousand sg.m., representing an
increase of approximately 1.9% as compared to the previous
year. Of which, the total sales area of residential properties
increased by approximately 1.1% as compared to the previous
year, while that of office buildings increased by approximately
1.2%, whereas that of commercial and business properties
decreased by approximately 2.6%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As shown from the data in relation to the total construction area
of new property projects and total sales area of commercial
properties of real estate enterprises across the PRC, the entire
real estate industry in the country was facing a lot of pressure.
The COVID-19 epidemic, industry policies, and the continued
tightening of financing policies are all possible reasons for
causing a slowdown in the real estate industry.

On 20 January 2022, the Henan Provincial Bureau of Statistics
issued the “Development and Sales of Real Estates in Henan
Province in 2021” report. According to the latest statistics,
investment in real estate development in Henan Province
amounted to approximately RMB787,435 million in 2021,
representing an increase of approximately 1.2%. Of which,
investment in residential properties amounted to approximately
RMB669,609 million, representing an increase of approximately
3.8%.

In 2021, the total construction area of new property projects by
Henan property developers was 136,528.9 thousand sqg.m.,
representing a decrease of approximately 3.3%. Of which, the
total construction area of new residential properties was
112,976.7 thousand sqg.m., representing a decrease of
approximately 0.6%, while the total sales area of commercial
properties of real estate enterprises was approximately 132,771.9
thousand sqg.m., representing a decrease of approximately 5.8%.
Of which, the total sales area of residential properties decreased
by approximately 4.5%, while that of office buildings decreased
by approximately 43.7%, whereas that of commercial and
business properties decreased by approximately 19.1%.

As shown from the various data regarding the Henan property
market, except for having better statistics in terms of total new
construction area than the whole country, Henan Province did
significantly poorer in other areas. After analysis, we concluded
that this was mainly attributed to the Henan floods and the
COVID-19 situation, which posed great difficulties to Henan’s real
estate industry. However, in light of the growth rate of real estate
investment in central China and the new construction area of
properties in Henan, the Henan real estate industry as a whole
remains optimistic about the future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

Due to the combined effect of factors such as the repeated
COVID-19 outbreaks in the PRC, the severe floods affecting
Henan in July, and the continued regulation of the real estate
industry by industrial and financial policies, the Group endured a
difficult year in 2021. Nevertheless, we overcame difficulties by
making timely revisions to our business strategies and attained a
healthy and stable growth.

In 2021, the Group established and acquired equity interests in
the following nine companies: (I) Xuchang Hengrong Property
Development Company Limited* (FTEMIE& FEHERZEBRAR);
(I Xuchang Hengchi Property Development Company Limited*
(FFEEMEMERZEEGMR AR, (Il) Xuchang Hengzhu Property
Development Company Limited* (FFE1EEEHERZERR A RF);
(IV) Yanling Wanhong Real Estate Company Limited* (B5F& % & 5A
EEARAR); (V) Yanling Zhengli Property Development
Company Limited* (BBp& & EE B EF AR AR); (VI) Yuzhou
Taiyu Property Development Company Limited* (M= & FE i
EF AR A F); (VI) Changge Jiahe Real Estate Company
Limited* (REB MR A MEAFR AR, (V) Xuchang Yonghong
Property Development Company Limited* (£ &k ZEHEM A
R A7), and (IX) Henan Hengzhi Construction Engineering
Design Company Limited* (A E R EETIZFZRFTBRAF]), to
enhance the coverage of our property sales and integrate the
upstream portion of the supply chain.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2021, the Group increased its investment in marketing and
strategic planning, strengthened online promotion efforts, and
deployed a team of professionals to clear our excess inventory
stock. Meanwhile, for the purpose of optimizing our business
structure and improving profitability, the Group acquired a design
company with Class-A Construction Engineering Design
Qualification during the year. On the other hand, the Group
acquired approximately 350,000 sg.m. of commercial and
residential land in Weidu District, Yanling Country, Changge City,
and Yuzhou City through bidding invitations, auctions, and
listings, as well as acquisitions and mergers. In terms of
engineering technology, by continuously improving and updating
our product specifications and our standardized product
databases, and also by paying more attention to product quality
and details, we could further improve customer experience when
sales pressure increases.

The Group continued to maintain its “residential properties first,
commercial properties second” business model to improve the
convenience and comprehensive value of its residential projects.
In face of the overall pressure within the real estate industry, the
Group properly reduced its profitability targets in terms of market
layout, worked to maintain our market share in the local Xuchang
market and radiating to surrounding areas, and expanded our
market share in other Henan cities in a timely manner.

Our Group will continue to adhere to the principle of “Integrity
Management, Fulfilling Every Promise” and further improve our
upstream and downstream supply chains, enhance work
efficiency and risk control capabilities, and maintain stable
development while withstanding pressure in the real estate
industry.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEWED N

LAND RESERVES Tt

A o e . A
As at 31 December 2021, the GFA of the Group’s land reserves K2921¢12531 H %$ - £ 3 15 A
BEEBBORM0BFITAKTREFI K] -

TR HR2021F12 A318 1% i 13 8] o
below sets forth a summary of the land reserves as at 31 M) M R

was approximately 4.4 million square meters (“sq.m.”). The table

December 2021 by geographical location:

Under Future
Completed development development

BRI B ARBE
Completed
saleable/
leasable GFA
remaining GFA under Planned Total land % of total land
unsold development GFA reserve reserve
BRTREEN
THE /WA BEs RE @t RE L
ERIEEHR BEEE BEERE i mEASL
sq.m. sq.m. sq.m. sq.m. %
Xuchang City FET
Weidu District REE 50,151 628,343 101,572 780,066 17.8
Jian'an District EZRE 34,876 89,309 97,730 221,915 51
Yuzhou City MM 107,544 1,232,807 198,024 1,538,375 35.2
Changge City REmM 38,200 301,207 280,299 619,706 14.2
Yanling County B 5 24,936 - 278,637 303,573 6.9
Xiangcheng County S8 - 92,240 - 92,240 2.1
Dongcheng District R = 406,213 2,547 408,760 9.3
Economic and KHRE
technological
development zone o 62,280 243,058 305,338 7.0
Luohe City BT
Linying County i A8 52 - 104,599 1,589 106,188 24
Total BB 255,707 2,916,998 1,203,456 4,376,161 100.0

Note: Land reserves equal the sum of (i) total completed saleable/ Hat: THHEESROBTREENTHE
leasable GFA remaining unsold, (i) total GFA under development AEEERTHAEREEE: ()FAEFR
and (iii) total planned GFA held for future development. WMBEEE: H(I)FIERKAED

REBEEmMBE M -

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED

CONTRACTED SALES EREERE

The table below sets forth a breakdown of our major types of TERENEMEZEINERBEEE R
contracted sales and contracted average selling price (‘ASP”): ERFHEB((EFHEEDNBELE:

For the year ended

31 December % change
BZ12A3MALEE EER
2021 2020 +-
20214 20204 +-
Contracted sales attributable to: INTEEELEREER:
Residential units (RMB, million) FEEN(AREEET) 3,742.8 3,816.1 1.9%
Commercial units (RMB, million) BEBUAR®EEET) 373.4 398.6 -6.3%
Car parking spaces (RMB, million) EEM(AREBEET) 158.0 115.0 +37.4%
Others (RMB, million) EH(AREBEET) 37.9 10.5 +261.0%
Total (RMB, million) B (AREEEL) 4,312.1 4,340.2 -0.6%
Contracted saleable GFA/Lot NTEBEREARTLE
attributable to: EEmE /(AL
Saleable GFA (sq.m.) AHERERRE (ALK 619,125 638,930 -3.1%
Car parking space (lot) EEA(fE) 2,832 1,749 +61.9%
Contracted ASP attributable to: NTEERGEERTHER:
Saleable GFA (RMB/sq.m.) HEREHEE
(AR®T/EHXK) 6,709 6,793 1.2%
Car parking space (RMB/lot) BEA(NRET,/ ) 55,797 65,752 -15.1%

Our contracted ASP per sq.m. of saleable GFA decreased by HZMALEREEENE LA KRERF
1.2% to approximately RMB6,709 per sqg.m. in 2021. The HEBR021F R A 2%EH T F 7K
decrease in 2021 was mainly due to the decrease in market AR BB,7097T ° 2021F M LT E B BN
price of properties in Henan Province. HAEAMENTIZER TR -

Our contracted ASP per lot for car parking space decreased by R 20214 & M e 5 Y W 15 B AL 1Y F
15.1% to approximately RMB55,797 per lot in 2021 due to the HEEBRE BBEMEEMMNEHREEH
lower ASP of the car parking spaces at the Yuzhou Sunshine FHEBR2021FFH P151%EFHELOA
City in 2021. R¥55,7977C °

2021 Annual Report 1 5
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Results

The financial performance and results for the year ended 31
December 2021 were satisfactory. Key financial ratios have met
the expectation of the management.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the revenue of the
Group reached approximately RMB2,767.7 million (2020:
RMB2,422.1 million), representing an increase of approximately
14.3%.

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately RMB851.5
million (2020: RMB779.0 million), representing an increase of
approximately RMB72.5 million, or approximately 9.3%.

Gross profit margin was approximately 30.8% in 2021 (2020:
32.2%), representing a decrease of approximately 1.4% as
compared with that in 2020.

Profit for the year slightly increased by approximately RMB20.6
million, or 7.3%, from approximately RMB282.6 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB303.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Revenue

Our revenue was derived from (i) sales of properties, (ii) rental
income and (iii) others. The following table sets forth the
breakdown of the revenue and their respective percentages of
contribution to the total revenue for the years indicated:

Bt %5 1

HE2021F12A31HILFEMT KRB
MEBESARE TEHBLREDE
BEFEH -

NE E2021F 128318 L FE - A& F
W AEHANRYE2767.7H & 7T (20204
AREE2 422185 &EJT)  EIH14.3%

AEEHESEFNHARESSISAE T
(2020F : ARBE779.0B 8 7T) N H
ARMT72.58 & L (K #9.3%) °

2021F &) £ F| F 49 £30.8% (20204 :
32.2%) » 820204F ik L #91.4% o

FEEMBEEE 20201284318 L FE
M ANRE2826EETEM EANAR
¥20.6 5 & 7T (37.3%) B & £2021F128
SIBLEFEMHAREIB2BETT -

WA
BAWBARBEONMEHE  ((H2HK

A B (i) B At o TR EIIR AR FE 0 UK
AHARESEEMIGERKANED L :

Year ended 31 December

HZ12A31ALLEE
2021 2020 % change
20215 20204 Z2HENL
RMB’000 % RMB’000 % +/-
AREFTT % AREFIT % +/-
Sales of properties ¥ #HE 2,753,389 99.5 2,417,639 99.8 +13.9%
Rental income el A 5,305 0.2 4,492 0.2 +20.2%
Others HAh 8,984 0.3 — - N/A
A B
2,767,678 100.0 2,422,051 100.0 +14.3%

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA



Management Discussion and Analysis

The tables below set out the revenue from the sales of
properties, the total GFA units of properties recognised and the
overall recognised ASP of our properties by property types:

EEERWED T

TREINZMEEHNE DONYEHEK
A FHERMENRREEE, BEUR
BLZENENBRECHATFHERE:

Year ended 31 December
BZ12AMALEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Recognised Recognised
GFA ASP GFA ASP
Revenue recognised per sq.m. Revenue  recognised per sg.m.
ERRA BEHER
2R F¥HK EHR FY¥HK
A EEEE FHEE LN BEEE THEE
RMB’000 sq.m. RMB RMB’000 s5Q.m. RMB
AREFTT FI K AR¥T ANEETT FI K AEET
Residential F= 2,379,098 395,319 6,018 2,019,393 309,952 6,515
Commercial BE 292,802 37,139 7,884 246,448 33,812 7,289
Storage R =E 12,501 5,563 2,247 10,254 3,665 2,798
2,684,401 438,021 6,128 2,276,095 347,429 6,551
Recognised Recognised
Units ASP per Units ASP per
Revenue recognised unit Revenue  recognised unit
ER’R BHER
BEN BEf
WA ERIBQ FHEE WA BRERAEM THEE
RMB’000 lot RMB RMB’000 lot RMB
AREFT 18 2 AR¥T AREETT 16 2 AR BT
Car parking BB

spaces 68,988 1,197 57,634 141,544 1,699 83,310

Sales of properties, which accounted for approximately 99.5%
(2020: 99.8%) of our total revenue for the year ended 31
December 2021, were contributed by the sales of residential and
commercial properties, storages and car parking spaces
recognised in the year.

HE2021F12A31HIEFE - MEHEE
B4 10 B 48 I A #999.5% (20204F ¢
90.8%) NHRZTFEBREER B E
ME FBEHZEREEMNMEEME -

2021 Annual Report
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Our revenue increased by approximately RMB345.6 million or
14.3% from approximately RMB2,422.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 to approximately RMB2,767.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2021, which was principally
attributable to the result of approximately RMB359.7 million
increase in the sales of our residential properties during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The increase in sales of residential properties was mainly due to
the effect of increase in GFA recognised from approximately
309,952 sqg.m. for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately 395,319 sqg.m. for the year ended 31 December
2021, despite partially offset by the decrease in ASP per sg.m..

The increase in the sales of our commercial properties during
the year was primarily due to the increase in GFA by 9.8% and
increase of ASP per sg.m. from approximately RMB7,289 in 2020
to RMB7,884 in 2021.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

TR U A B EH 22020512 A31H IFF
EHHOARE242201BETIEMOAR
34568 B 7T (3014.3%) & & £20214F
AN LEFENNOARK27677TE &
T BDEBHRARE E2021F12A318 1L F
EHERMOEEDEHEELMOARE
359.7E & T °

TEMEHEENDHEEANEER
S ETE B A £22020F12A31HIEFEHN
#7309,952F 75 oK 1 N = &, £2021512 A
31BIFFEMHB95319F FkK » BE A
WEFRAARFHEER L BHEE -

FRNEEMEHSENDIETEAREE
EEE N8B R EMEET FHKFEY
& B H2020F ) A R #7289 F A =
2021 ¥ A R¥67,8847T ©



Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The table below sets out the revenue, gross profit and gross

profit margin by types:

EEERWED T

ENREFER

TRUFIREHNBUSHRA - EFRE
JES

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A3ALEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%
Gross Gross
Cost of Gross profit Cost of Gross profit
Revenue sales profit Margin Revenue sales profit Margin
WA HERE iAW £z KA HERE M ENE
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000 %  RMB0OO  RMB000  RMB000 %
ABETT AREFT AREFR % NRETT ARETT AREFT %
Sales of properties M EHE
— Residential - 2,379,098 1,641,097 738,001 31.0 2,019,393 1,305,108 714,290 354
— Commercial -HE 292,802 177,477 115,325 39.4 246,448 201,625 44,823 18.2
— Car parking - REf
spaces and HEZE
storages 81,489 84,877 (3,388) -4.2 151,798 136,362 15,436 10.2
Subtotal N 2,753,389 1,903,451 849,938 30.9 2,417,639 1,643,090 774,549 32.0
Rental He 5,305 - 5,305 100 4,412 = 4,412 100.0
Others Htn 8,984 12,740 (3,756) -41.8 = = = S
2,767,678 1,916,191 851,487 30.8 2,422,051 1,643,090 778,961 32.2

The overall gross profit margin of sales of properties and gross
profit margin of sales of residential properties dropped from
approximately 32.0% in 2020 to 30.9%
approximately 35.4% in 2020 to 31.0% in 2021, respectively.

in 2021 and

The gross profit margin of commercial properties increased from
approximately 18.2% in 2020 to 39.4% in 2021, representing a
year-on-year increase of approximately 116.5%. It was because
the commercial properties delivered during the year ended 31
December 2020 were mainly commercial apartments with less

ASP per sg.m..

Y % 8H 8 & B B8 E T E B20204F 19 4
32.0% I [& 22021 #930.9% ' FEHE
B £ F| & B2020%F B £935.4% |~ f& =
2021F #31.0% °

Y K E F XK H20209F /) 4918.2%
A =20214F #939.4% * R kb E F 4
116.5% ° i& = f 1 & £2020F12 A31H
RN BEENETEATFE KT
HEBRENEELE -

2021 Annual Report
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The negative gross profit margin of sales of car parking spaces
and storage in year 2021 was due to the combined effects of (i)
decrease in market price of car parking spaces of certain
projects in Xuchang City; and (ii) write-down of value of car
parking spaces in 2021.

Profit for the year was approximately RMB303.2 million (2020:
RMB282.6 million), representing an increase of approximately
RMB20.6 million.

Fair value gains on investment properties

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 December
2021 by an independent professional qualified valuers, Vincorn
Consulting and Appraisal Limited, who hold recognised relevant
professional qualification and has recent experience in the
locations and segments of the investment properties valued.

Selling and marketing expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s selling and
marketing expenses amounted to approximately of RMB139.6
million (2020: RMB102.0 million), representing an increase of
approximately 36.9% as compared to that in 2020. The increase
was mainly due to addition promotion activities and campaign for
brand building during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses increased by approximately 22.8%
from approximately RMB132.1 million in 2020 to approximately
RMB162.2 million in 2021, the increase of administrative
expenses was mainly due to the increase of staff costs.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

R2021F S EFEURBEHERETAH
EMERTIHROR2021EHFETE T &
BRfEBEMTE TR R()EBEMAER
MORE R B ERTE -

FERFBELAE A RE303.28 & 7t (2020
FARME26EET) EMHARE
20.6E & T °

REMEND FER S

REBKIKEYEN2021F12A318 &
B EELSERMGEEML AW ETGE
ERABETHE ZARNBEERY
M EEERTUMEENREDE
B Hb Bh AN SE I B AT BRI AL 5B o

HERTSERMX

R E E2021F12A3IHILFE - KNEH
MEERMISHEER 4 A ARE139.6
B & T (20204 : A R #5102.08 & 7T) -
2020 1 R 4936.9% © M T E
BHRRE E021FE12A3BLEFEERE
EEZMBHEERSEEED -

ITHBAX

TR BE X 2020 M #) A R #1325 B
JC ¥ AN 4922.8% E2021F B 49 A B ¥
1622 BT THRAZEMNDEEHAR
BT A A I INATER »



Management Discussion and Analysis

Finance costs — net

Finance costs primarily consisted of (i) interest expenses on
borrowings; (ii) interest on pre-sale deposits received and (jii)
interest charges on lease liabilities, less interest expenses which
were capitalised to the extent that such costs are directly
attributable to property development projects. Our finance costs
decreased by approximately 88.6% from approximately RMB10.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMB1.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such
decrease was mainly due to the decrease of interest on pre-sale
deposits received for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense mainly comprised of the PRC corporate
income tax expense and land appreciation tax arising from our
PRC subsidiaries. Income tax expenses slightly increased by
approximately 3.5% or RMB8.1 million from approximately
RMB228.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to the
approximately RMB236.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital resources

As of 31 December 2021, the cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB281.5 million (31 December
2020: RMB554.5 million), of which approximately RMB279.8
million (31 December 2020: RMB553.7 million) was denominated
in Renminbi and approximately RMB1.7 million (31 December
2020: RMBO0.8 million) was denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

As at 31 December 2021, the restricted cash amounted to
approximately RMB146.8 million (31 December 2020: RMB119.0
million), all restricted cash was denominated in Renminbi.

The Group’s total borrowings amounted to approximately
RMB693.0 million as of 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
RMB552.0 million), of which approximately RMB288.8 million was
classified as current liabilities (31 December 2020: RMB310.6
million). Approximately 55.4% (31 December 2020: 51.7%) out of
the Group’s total borrowings was fixed interest rates.

BB mE

AT

PR A — R

MR AEZRIEOEROF BRI (i)
CHEERESNFE: R(i)HEAEF
ERAY MBREEARELHNFERAZ - #
DEBRAEESRYERTEEHEBEA
PR o BP9 89 BF 7% pK 2N | &L 22020412 A
SIHIEFEMHARKE1098 & LR D
4988.6% &= &, Z2021F12 A3 It FE K
WARBICEBIL - ZRBPTIEEZEBAR
R E E2021F12A31H IF FE W B & &
EFERFER DT -

FriS BB

FEHEYEEREFTEMNBRARES
MPBECEMESRASY R T IZER -
Fr 18 % B X B & 22020128318 I F
ERH AR B88E B T EMIE MG
3.5%H A RB8IE B L EH £2021412
AS1BEIEFEMHARK236.88E T °

RBEE  MEERREFRER

H Z22021F12A31H B MR & B
W& B AN R E281.5F & JT (2020512 A
31 AR¥554558T) ERHAR
#070.88 & T (202012318 : AR ¥
553.7TE B UARKE  HAR®KELY
A B r(2020F12A318: ARK08EH &
TO) A TTEHE -

MR2021F12H31H » XBRHIR &L A A
R #146.85 8 jT (2020512 8318 : A R
¥119.08 8L) FIAEXRHIFAEHEUA
R¥EHE -

B =2021F12A31H " EE /&K 82
B A ANREEI3.08 & Jr (20206124
31 AR®20BE L) ERFHAR
#088.88 & L 1E » AR B & & (2020
F12A31H: AR3106B 8 L) - N &
B & R 4 EE 4955.4% (2020412 A31H -
51.7%) & E T F & o
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At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s borrowings were
repayable as follows:

As at 31 December 2021

20214 K2020F12A31H * A& B 5
R 51 By ) B 5%

As at 31 December 2020

®2021§12831A 2020612 A31H

Within Between Between Within Between Between

1year 1to2years 2to5years 1 year 110 2 years 210 5 years

E 122% 2E5F 1R 122F 2E5F

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000

AREFL ANBETFT AREFx ANEETT ANEETn ARETT

Bank borrowings SR 107,800 156,200 - 110,000 = 29,000
Other long-term  H i R BERX

borrowings 124,377 97,000 151,000 136,000 90,377 122,000
Other current HEREEm

borrowings 56,580 - - 64,640 = =

288,757 253,200 151,000 310,640 90,377 151,000

Current, total and net assets

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had current assets of
approximately RMB9,940.8 million (31 December 2020:
RMB8,183.7 million) and current liabilities of approximately
RMB8,015.3 million (31 December 2020: RMB6,702.1 million), the
net current assets value increased from approximately
RMB1,481.6 million as at 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMB1,925.5 million as at 31 December 2021.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB10,300.0 million (31 December 2020:
RMB8,508.6 million) and total liabilities of approximately
RMB8,454.5 million (31 December 2020: RMB6,978.5 million),
representing an increase of net assets or total equity from
approximately RMB1,530.1 million as at 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMB1,845.5 million as at 31 December 2021.

Charge on assets

The Group’s borrowings are secured by investment properties,
properties held or under development for sale and property,
plant and equipment of the Group.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

H 22021128318 "&EEBH AR D
B EMANRKI0.8F & T (2020912
HA31H: ARM8183.7TEE L) LR E &
&4 ARES,015.38 & 7t (2020F12 A31
H: AR®67021BETT) "BEEF
B H2020F 12 A31H M) 49 A R #1,481.6
AE L LEAE20021F12A3IHEH AR
#1,025.5H & JC °

HE2021F12A31H AEEBHBERE
E % A R ¥10,300.08 & 7t (2020512 A
3B AR#85086B &) MNBEAGBH
AR #8,454.58 & 7L (2020F12 A318H :
AR¥6,9785B8T) FEES BER
202012 A31H M 49 A & #1,53018
BT I E2021F 12 A3IHH A R

e —

1,845.58 & T °
BEEEN
AEENEFREAKRENREDNE &

FHEXHEFFEDEURDE - B
FRFEIEEN -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Contingent liabilities

(@)

The Group has provided guarantees to secure obligations
of certain purchasers of the Group’s properties for
repayments. Such guarantees will terminate upon the
earlier of (i) the issuance and transfer of the real estate
ownership certificate, or (ii) the satisfaction of mortgage
loans by the purchasers of the properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default of
mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is
responsible to repay the outstanding mortgage principal
together with accrued interest owed by the defaulting
purchasers to the banks and the Group is entitled to take
over the legal title and possession of the related
properties after the relevant legal procedures. The
Group’s guarantee period starts from the date of grant of
mortgage. The Directors consider that the likelihood of
default of payments by the purchasers is minimal and
therefore the financial guarantee measured at fair value is
immaterial.

In line with our diversified land acquisition strategies, a
subsidiary of the Group obtained the 20% equity interest
of a project company (the “Associate Company”) which
hold a parcel of land for development through a bidding
process, and remaining 80% equity interests are held by
an independent third party (the “Major Shareholder”).
Based on the investment agreement entered into by the
Associate Company, the subsidiary of the Group and the
Major Shareholder, the Associate Company has to repay
the shareholder loans provided by the Major Shareholder
within a specified timeframe after commencement of
presale activities. If the Associate Company fails to return
such shareholder loan on time, the subsidiary of the
Group is required to provide funding to the Associate
Company for the repayment of the shareholder loans. As
at 31 December 2021, such shareholder loans of this
Associate Company are approximately of RMB185 million.

BB mE

AT

ZREE

(@)

AEECER/ASENERBLLE
RWERETRHBEER %ZFE
FERONBLREBEFS L EREB
FE HMVEEREMNEBER
(NBEERE)ERKL -

REBEERGR EZFERERXR
BBERE AEEEARBIMIR
TEEENEFRERNERAS
BEREHE  MAKENIERE
FREFREBRERERBOEN
BREXBIMAR AEENE
RHEROREEHERK - &
ERRBERE RN AR BE MR
K Bt BRAFEFENTH
ERITEKX -

B3P A % Je b 1 b UK BE SR BE —
HoAEE-—HEHBARISE —
MEBEAR(HEATANEEB
A —REER L) 20% 8
R% 7 - T8 T80% A% #E Al B — &
BUYuEF-—HFIXEERERDEH-
BEHE NG AEBEKBQR
FEERRIINREDZ B
BRARIBARBEZHRBRERT
HEAEEXTERFEHMORE
B Mg A EERFERSR
EEREER: AAEEMHWB
ARIARBE R RIREES - N
EEBBREER - R2021F12
A31EH BMERARNBEBERRE
R BARBISSEHE T °
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EEERWED T

In addition, pursuant to the investment agreement,
the subsidiary of the Group also has to compensate
for all losses of the Major Shareholder if the property
project is delayed under certain conditions or that
the repayment of shareholder loan is delayed beyond
certain period stipulated in the investment agreement.
As at 31 December 2021, management of the Group
considers the risk of providing funding for repayment of
shareholder loans or any compensation loss is low.

Key financial ratios:

o RIEREHE - MYEE
BEETHERTEL skl ERE
HHEREHEREEWE B
METER:  AIAEENHEAQ
RIMEAREER RN BEBEE
HE - R2021F12A31H » A&
EEEERARHEESUEER
RERSTMNEEBBESENE
& AIE o

TEMHLER:

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Profitability ratios BRI =
Return on assets BEOHE 3.2% 3.8%
Return on equity 7 2= 18] ¥ K 18.0% 20.5%
Net profit margin RIS 11.0% 11.7%
As of 31 December
MW12831H
2021 2020
20214 20204F
Liquidity ratio RE M=
Current ratio TEN L & 1.2 1.2
Capital adequacy ratios EARFZERLER
Gearing ratio (note 1) EARLL (K1) 37.5% 36.1%
Debt to equity ratio (note 2) BERERLE W ZE2) 22.3% N/A

Note 1:  Gearing ratio is our total debts, including bank borrowings,
other long-term borrowings and other current borrowings,
as a percentage of total equity.

Note 2:  Debt to equity ratio is our total debts, minus cash and cash
equivalents, as a percentage of total equity.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

BiaET -

Kiito -

T 5E

BEREXSBEMNEBRBRE
RITER - R REEFTIA K EM
MBEF)EEEZNODL -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

KEY RISK FACTORS

All of our projects are located in Henan Province, the PRC. Our
business continues to be heavily dependent on the performance
of the property markets in Xuchang City and Henan Province.
These property markets may be affected by local, regional,
national and global factors, many of which are beyond our
control and could include economic and financial conditions,
speculative activities in local markets, demand for and supply of
properties, availability of alternative investment choices for
property buyers, inflation, government policies, interest rates and
availability of capital. The selling price per sg.m. and gross profit
margins of our properties vary by the type of properties we
developed and sold, and affected by various factors including
the market demand of the properties located, prevailing local
market prices, the cost of properties constructed and sold.

The property market in the cities in which we have operations or
plan to expand our operations has been competitive. Our
existing and potential competitors include both major national
and regional property developers with expansive operations in
the cities or markets in which we operate as well as local
property developers. We compete with them with respect to a
number of factors, including land acquisition, geographic
location, management expertise, financial resources, access to
transportation infrastructure, size of land reserves, product
quality, brand recognition by customers, customer services and
support, pricing and design quality. We may seek to further
enhance our market presence in these cities amid intense
competition.

In addition, our business is also subject to the general social
conditions in the regions where we operate and in the PRC in
general. Any occurrence of force majeure events, natural
disasters or outbreaks of epidemics and pandemics, including
those caused by avian influenza, swine influenza, Middle East
respiratory syndrome coronavirus or COVID-19 in the regions
where we operate or in the PRC in general, which are beyond
our control, depending on their scale, may cause different
degree of damages to the economy, social conditions,
infrastructure and livelihood of the people of the regions we
operate or in China in general.
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The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates is mainly
attributable to its borrowings. Borrowings at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The
Group has not hedged its cash flow or fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group is principally engaged in the property development
business in the PRC with almost all transactions denominated in
Renminbi. In addition, the majority of the Group’s assets and
liabilities are denominated in Renminbi. Accordingly, the Group is
not exposed to significant foreign currency risk, except for the
bank deposits denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group closely monitors the
foreign exchange exposure and will take actions when
necessary.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 24 June 2021, following a public listing-for-sale conducted on
Henan Property Rights Exchange Centre, Xuchang Hengda
acquired from & M 7 & # 5 Hb 2 5 2 B R 2 5 (Yuzhou Yuxiang
Real Estate Development Company Limited*) 90% of the equity
interest in MM EBREHERZEABRAF (Yuzhou Taiyu Real
Estate Development Company Limited*), a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and is principally
engaging in the management, development and sales of real
estate in Yuzhou City of Henan Province. For detail, please refer
to the announcement of the Company dated 28 June 2021.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or
assets during the year ended 31 December 2021.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

The Directors confirmed that as at the date of this report, there
are no current plans to acquire any material investment or capital
assets other than in the Group’s ordinary business of property
development.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

GEARING RATIO

Gearing ratio is our total debts, including bank borrowings, other
long-term borrowings and other current borrowings, as a
percentage of total equity. As at 31 December 2021, the gearing
ratio of the Group was approximately 37.5%, representing
increase of approximately 1.4 percentage points as compared
with approximately 36.1% as at 31 December 2020, which was
mainly due to the increase of loans during the year.

TREASURY POLICIES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amounts of dividends paid to shareholders, issue
new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.

HUMAN RESOURCES AND EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

Human resource has always been the most valuable resource of
the Group. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had a total
workforce of 739 employees (31 December 2020: 648). The
remuneration policy is reviewed by the Board from time to time.
Emoluments of Directors are determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company after considering performance of the
Group, individual performance and comparing with market
conditions. In addition to basic remuneration, the Group also
provides medical insurance, social insurance contribution plans
or other pension schemes, and other benefits in kind to the
employees. The Group adopted five-day week policy applying to
our certain back office staff to execute the philosophy of work-
life balance.
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To intensify personnel training and development, the Group
provides a series of employee training programmes, which aims
to accelerate professional growth and identify competences and
talents of diversified teams. High potential staff are preferred and
developed intensively according to the promotion plan towards
the management level. In order to attract and retain suitable
candidates for business development, the Group adopted the
share option scheme as incentive since November 2018.

FORWARD LOOKING

Looking ahead to 2022, with the normalization of epidemic
prevention and control requirements, the macro-economy in the
PRC has been developing at a normal growth rate. At the real
estate policy level, we will continue to adhere to the principle of
“residential properties are for living, not speculation”, improve the
housing marketing and protection system, and implement the
long-term regulatory targets of “stabilizing land premium,
housing price, and market expectation”. Meanwhile, the real
estate industry will continue to maintain a sound monetary policy
and continue to implement the “three red guidelines” to promote
a positive development cycle and healthy growth of the industry.

In 2022, the Group will continue to focus on our established
strategic plan to analyze and break down our operation targets,
reasonably push forward our business progress and ensure the
completion of our planned targets. The Group will make full use
of our local branding strengths and cooperate with government
institutions and other enterprises. Reducing capital investment,
expanding our scale of operation, increasing the momentum of
sustainable development, and improving inventory turnover will
continue to be our major marketing priorities in the future. To this
end, the Group will deploy more marketing staff, create online
promotion campaigns, make appropriate price adjustments and
adopt other strategies to significantly reduce excess inventory.
With regards to new development projects, the Group will
strengthen our node management system and continue to work
according to our established pace and standards, so as to
complete tasks at all levels and ensure the smooth
implementation of all projects.

Marking the 30th anniversary of Ever Reach Group, 2022 is also
an important year for our strategic planning. In these challenging
times for the real estate industry, under the leadership of the
Board, the Group will work together as a team, pool our
knowledge and experience to weather the storm, and look
forward to our future success.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Xiaobing, aged 44, is the executive Director and
Chairman of the Company and was appointed as a Director
on 22 July 2016. He is also the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee. Mr. LI Xiaobing joined the Group in October 2004
as the manager of the purchasing department (£ 045 12)
of Xuchang Hengda and has since then served a number of
managerial and directorship positions of various members
of the Group. Mr. LI Xiaobing has extensive experience in
strategic planning, operational management and corporate
administration of property development business in the PRC. He
is also a director of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited, which is a
substantial shareholder of the Company within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

In December 2006, Mr. LI Xiaobing obtained an Executive Master
of Business Administration from Huazhong University of Science
and Technology (Z£ & £ X&) in Wuhan. On May 14, 2020, Mr.
LI Xiaobing was elected as the standing member of the Seventh
Xuchang Municipal Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference.

Mr. WANG Zhenfeng, aged 53, is the executive Director and
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as
a Director on 19 May 2017. He is also a member of the Legal
Compliance Committee. Mr. WANG Zhenfeng joined the Group
in May 2002 and has been the general manager (8 4¢38) of
Xuchang Hengda since November 2006, the director of Xuchang
Hengda since October 2007, the director of Henan Dadi since
August 2012 and chief executive officer ( 42 £ ) of Xuchang
Hengda since February 2013. Mr. WANG Zhenfeng has extensive
experiences in strategic planning, operational and financial
management as well as corporate administration of property
development businesses in the PRC.
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Mr. WANG Zhenfeng obtained an undergraduate degree in
industrial economics ( L % £ /& ) from Henan University of
Finance and Economics* (Jf 8 Bf & % K 2) (the predecessor
of Henan Institute of Finance* (7] Fg 81 & £ Fx)) in June 1992. He
then attained the qualification of accountant in the speciality of
enterprise accounting (& 2 € &) as conferred by the Ministry
of Finance of the PRC* (3 A R H B B K &) in May 1996,
and also obtained the qualification lawyer certificate ({2 R & 1%
#& &) from the Review Committee of Lawyer Qualification under
the Ministry of Justice of the PRC* (/£ A & 4L F1 B &) )4 S 2 Al
BERB|EZLZE @) in July 2001. He has become a non-practising
member (3E# 2% € 8) of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (F B 5 fift & 5T Al 1 &) since June 2012.

Ms. QI Chunfeng, aged 50, is the executive Director and deputy
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as a
Director on 19 May 2017. In November 1993, Ms. QI Chunfeng
joined the finance department ( 8 7 2f ) of Xuchang Weidu
Guesthouse Company Limited* (which was a subsidiary of Henan
Dadi prior to disposal of the entire equity interests therein to
Hengda Investment in September 2016) and has been a director
as well as deputy chief executive officer (2l42%;) of Xuchang
Hengda since January 2002 and March 2010 respectively. Ms.
Ql Chunfeng has extensive experiences in financial supervision,
operational management as well as corporate administration of
property development businesses in the PRC.

Ms. QI Chunfeng completed her tertiary studies in the speciality
of computing accountancy (& 5% & 1k) at Xuchang Vocational
Technical College (7 & Bk 2 #1722 Fx) in January 2007.

*

English name for identification purpose only
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Mr. WANG Quan, aged 49, is the executive Director and deputy
chief executive officer of the Company and was appointed as
a Director on 19 May 2017. Mr. WANG Quan joined Xuchang
Hengda in March 2002 and has since been a deputy chief
executive officer ( &) #2 £ ) of Xuchang Hengda since April
2005, as well as a director of Henan Dadi since August 2012.
Mr. WANG Quan has extensive experiences in operational
management and corporate administration.

Mr. WANG Quan completed his tertiary studies in the speciality
of production mechanics craftsmanship and equipments (#
B3 T # I 8 1%) at the Technical College of Northern China*
(FEJL T ZP7) in July 1996. He then attained in May 2001 the
professional and technical qualification of assistant engineer (B
BT 2AT) in the speciality of mechanics (H4#) as evaluated
by the Elementary Professional and Technical Role Assessment
Committee of State-owned 9676 Factory (Engineering Series)*
(B2NRNREAABIRRINVAEZERNTHRBITZE) and
conferred by the Commission of Science, Technology and
Industry for National Defence of Henan Province* (Ji] B & & [ &}
BHITT%Z8%) Moreover, Mr. WANG Quan also obtained
the intermediate level of economics (A %) in the speciality of
business administration (T 7 %& ¥2) as conferred by the Ministry
of Personnel of the PRC* (FF ZE A R A B A% #6) in November
2001, as well as the intermediate level of finance (& @) and the
intermediate level of fiscal taxation (817 #i U2) as conferred by
the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
PRC* (B A N E&ERMtt &REEL) respectively in May 2015
and April 2016. Furthermore, Mr. WANG Quan undertook a
number of qualification examinations for securities practitioners
(FFHEMZE ABEK=EH) and was granted passing certificates (A%
48 A 1% &) by the Securities Association of China (51 Bl & % % 1%
)

()
= ).

*

English name for identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Kwok Lun, aged 38, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018.
He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member
of each of the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Legal Compliance Committee. Mr. Lee is
currently an independent non-executive Director of Dragon Rise
Group Holdings Limited (BEF & BEIZERBR A F]), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6829) and Wing Chi
Holdings Limited (4 %5 15 i B B2 A 7)), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 6080), the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Summi (Group) Holdings Limited
(ZRE(EB)ERABER A F), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 756) and a director of Unitax Prism
(HK) CPA Limited (LEZMEZ(EB) @tMEHKMAERDA).
Mr. Lee has over 15 years of experience in accounting, audit,
corporate finance and financial management. Mr. Lee has been
appointed as the company secretary of Solis Holdings Limited (5F
=IZRE AR A F]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 2227), with effect from 23 December 2019.

Mr. Lee obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts from the
University of Hertfordshire in 2006. He is a practising member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) and an associate member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries.
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Mr. WEI Jian, aged 45, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Wei is currently Managing Director of Sincerity
Investment Holding Limited. He had served for a number of
financial institutions such as in Treasury Department at Bank
of China Sydney Branch, CMC Markets Asia Pacific Pty Ltd.,
City Index Australia Pty Ltd. and China Minsheng Banking
Corporation Limited, Hong Kong branch (7 B & 4 8 17 i {7
AR ABIEBDTT), and Deputy CEO of China Vered Financial
Holding Corporation Limited. Mr. Wei has over 12 years of
experience in asset management, business development,
financial market operations, corporate advisory and securities
dealing.

Mr. Wei obtained from the Royal Melbourne Institute of
Technology an Advanced Diploma of Business (Marketing) in
October 1999 and a degree of Bachelor of Business (Economics
and Finance) in December 2000, and subsequently the
Postgraduate Diploma in Finance and the Master of Financial
Management from The University of Melbourne in August 2002
and in December 2002 respectively.
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Mr. FANG Cheng, aged 49, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 22 October 2018. He
is also the chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee
and the Legal Compliance Committee, and a member of each of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee. Mr. Fang
is currently the responsible officer of GBA Locee Capital Limited
(£ BEARBRAT) (formerly known as Syner Wealth Capital
Limited (JE /L&A A BR A A])) on regulated activity of advising on
corporate finance covered under type 6 licence granted by the
SFC. He had served for a number of financial institutions such
as South China Capital Limited (F9ZE B & B R 2 a]), Lombard
Capital Limited (A& & #@atE B PR A F]), Masterlink Securities
(Hong Kong) Corporation Limited (JT & & % (&) GR Q2 7),
CNCB (Hong Kong) Capital Limited (1£ R (F &) & KB R QD
A]), Freeman Corporate Finance Limited (R BN XM EHE R
A]), Hong Kong International Capital Management Limited (& /&
BB & AEIE AR AR) Huarong International Capital Limited
(EREEEESGRAQA]) and Huarong International Securities
Limited (ERBEEESBRAR). Mr. Fang has over 17 years
of experience in investment banking and corporate financing
activities.

Mr. Fang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in transportation
engineering and management (% 8 T 12 81 & 12 &) from Feng Chia
University (& B X&) in Taiwan in June 1992 and subsequently a
degree of Master of Business Administration from the Cleveland
State University in the United States in September 1995.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LI Shixun, aged 50, has been the managing deputy
chief executive officer of our Company since 25 May 2017.
He is primarily responsible for the overall administrative and
operational management of our Group. He possesses over ten
years of experience in the administration and enterprise planning
of property development businesses.

Mr. S.X. Li completed, on part-time basis, his tertiary studies in
the speciality of fine arts at Henan Radio & Television University*
(] 7 & & B AR K 2) in July 2005.

Mr. S.X. Li joined our Group in November 1999 as the external
business manager of the operations department (4% & &5 % ) 5
& #832) of Xuchang Hengda, and from March 2000 to February
2001 he served as the deputy manager of the enterprise
planning department (1t % & & &4 ) of Xuchang Hengda
before being promoted to become the manager of the said
department in February 2001. After serving the enterprise
planning department for more than four years, he was appointed
in August 2004 as the manager of the human resources
department (A 1 & R Z0 42 ) of Xuchang Hengda. In April 2005,
he joined the Jian'an District branch office (% & % A #]) of
Xuchang Hengda as the deputy general manager (&l 4245 3%),
and was subsequently appointed in November 2006 to serve as
the sales director (& §5 42 B5) of Xuchang Hengda for more than
three years. From November 2009 to February 2010, from March
2010 to December 2010 and from August 2016 to May 2019, he
also served as the deputy general manager (& 75 &8l 42 4 32) of
Xuchang Hengda, the deputy chief executive officer (2l 42 %) of
Xuchang Hengda and the executive director and manager (&
1TEE & &IE) of Yuzhou Hengda, respectively. Mr. S.X. Li has
been the managing deputy chief executive officer (% 7§ 8 42 %)
of Xuchang Hengda since January 2011.

*

English name for identification purpose only
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREBAEBZEE

Mr. LEUNG Kam Fai Anthony, aged 37, has been the chief
financial officer and company secretary of our Company since
December 2016. He is primarily responsible for accounting,
financial as well as company secretarial matters of our Group.
He has extensive experience in handling transactional, annual
auditing and review engagements for public companies.

Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accountancy from the Hong Kong Baptist University in November
2008. Mr. Leung has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants since March 2013 and he has
become a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since September 2018.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) have pleasure
in submitting herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Review of the business of the Group during the year
under review, a discussion on the Group’s future business
development and possible risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are provided in the section headed
“Chairman’s Statement” on pages 5 to 9 and the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 28 of
this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year ended
31 December 2021 using financial performance indicators is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 10 to 28 of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are property development and
property investment in the PRC.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group seeks to uphold high standard of integrity in all
aspects of business and is committed to ensuring that its affairs
are conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulatory
requirements and has formulated and adopted various internal
control measures, approval procedures and training within all
business units at all levels of the Group. During the year, there
has been no violation or breach of relevant laws and regulations
that had a significant impact on the Group.
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RESULTS AND RECOMMENDED DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and the state of affairs of the Group at that date are set out in
the financial statements of the Group on pages 131 to 293.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK6.0 cents per ordinary share (equivalent to approximately
RMB5.0 cents per ordinary share) for the year ended 31
December 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL

No share had been issued by the Company during the year and
details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 15
to the consolidated financial statements.

There were no purchases, sales or redemptions of the
Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries during the year.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the Group’s and the Company’s
reserves during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, notes 15 to 17 and in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity owners of the Company was
approximately RMB65,526,000. After the end of the reporting
period, the Directors proposed a final dividend of HK6.0 cents
(equivalent to approximately RMB5.0 cents) per ordinary share,
amounting to HK$72,000,000 equivalent to approximately
RMB60,000,000). This final dividend has not been recognised as
a liability at the end of the reporting period.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of the major properties and property interests of the
Group are shown on pages 295 to 302 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to our shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
shares.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 294 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this Directors’
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Xiaobing (Chairman)

Mr. WANG Zhenfeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. QI Chunfeng

Mr. WANG Quan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. WEI Jian
Mr. FANG Cheng
Mr. LEE Kwok Lun

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, Mr.
WANG Quan, Mr. FANG Cheng and Mr. WEI Jian will retire from
the Board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Report
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No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than normal
statutory obligations.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out on pages 29 to 36.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years; and is
subject to termination by either party in the manner as set out in
the service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years; and is subject to termination by either party in the manner
as set out in the letter of appointment.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ report and in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors, the entity connected with
the Directors, controlling shareholders and any subsidiaries of
the controlling shareholders of the Company had a material
beneficial interest, either direct or indirect, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or its
parent company or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
year.
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REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management is
determined with reference to their duties, responsibilities and
performance and the Group's results.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND/OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, being the end of the reporting period
under review, the interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and/or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) that Directors and chief executive of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are as follows:

Interests in shares of the Company

AR E ) B 0 # 22

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest
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FRLIRTZABALTRBRHRNTE -

Notes: B i -

1. The letter “L” denotes to the person with long position in the 1.
shares.

2. These shares were legally and beneficially held by Ever 2.

Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited as at 31 December
2021. Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is a
corporate controlling shareholder which is legally and beneficially
wholly-owned by Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited. Ever
Commitment (PTC) Limited is the trustee of the family trust,
established by Mr. LI Xiaobing as the sole settlor for the benefit of
a list of discretionary beneficiaries including Mr. LI Xiaobing himself
and any persons or classes of person (save for Mr. LI Xiaobing’s
father and mother) to be appointed by and at the sole discretion
of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited (as trustee) from time to time.
Given that Mr. LI Xiaobing is the sole settlor of the family trust, he
is therefore deemed to be interested in any shares in which Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is interested by virtue of
the SFO.

3. As at 31 December 2021, these shares were legally and beneficially 38
held by Ever Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited of which
the entire issued share capital was, in turn, legally and beneficially
held by Mr. LI Xiaobing. Mr. LI Xiaobing is therefore deemed to
be interested in any shares in which Ever Enrichment Enterprise
Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the B EXCATEE SN - 2021128318 -
Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed MEARAEZTXETBITHRAEBRAR
to have any interest or short position in the shares, underlying Ak/HEEBEE(EERESL Y
shares and debentures of the Company and/or its associated ERAIEXVE) KRG - BEARGKNE
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as RETEEIXEGREREREZSLB
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 B &P 23521 17 B /9 & 52 i A ac 8%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN FERRAERDTNR 4 R AEER
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE HEENER
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, shareholders (other than Directors R2021F12A318 - RR(BEEF X AR A
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short FETHABRKRINAERR R KRR 7D K
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company BROTPHEERBEZESFRAERMIEXV
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the FEORSD HHAEERAAREHE =X
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or BEZHFRPEKRGFEBKAETEERE
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the WELCMAEENERZIAS  FHB0
Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows: ™

Number and class of Approximate percentage

Name of shareholder Capacity/nature of interest securities Note 1) of shareholding

BREAR 5/ EnME &5 AR E R we REHBNBEDLL

Ever Enhancement Enterprise Beneficial owner 855,000,000 71.25%
Company Limited ordinary shares (L)
BACERERAA ERBAA 855,000,000
TR RM L)

Ever Commitment Interest of a controlled corporation 855,000,000 71.25%
(PTC) Limited Mere2 ordinary shares (L)
BHILAGTEERRF WL REEEER 855,000,000

ERBBHGL)

Ms. LIN Wej ete Interest of spouse 900,000,000 75.00%
ordinary shares (L)
Mg 2 L mis) BB & 900,000,0008%

ERRRAOL
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes to the person/entity with long position in the
shares.

2. As of 31 December 2021, Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company
Limited was one of the controlling shareholders and was wholly-
owned by Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited. Ever Commitment (PTC)
Limited is deemed to be interested in any shares in which Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited is interested pursuant
to the SFO. Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited is the trustee of the
family trust established by Mr. LI Xiaobing as the sole settlor for
the benefit of a list of discretionary beneficiaries including Mr. LI
Xiaobing himself and any other person or classes of person (save
for Mr. LI Xiaobing’s father and mother) to be appointed by and at
the sole discretion of Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited (as trustee)
from time to time.

3. Ms. LIN Wei is the spouse of Mr. LI Xiaobing. Given that Mr. LI
Xiaobing is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever Enrichment
Enterprise Company Limited by virtue of the SFO, she will likewise
be deemed to be interested in any shares held by both Ever
Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever Enrichment
Enterprise Company Limited by virtue of the SFO.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group remunerates and provides benefits for its employees
based on current industry practice. Discretionary bonuses are
awarded to staff based on the performance of the Group and
performance of individual staff. In addition, share options may
be granted to eligible employees in accordance with the terms of
the Company’s share option scheme.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in several defined contribution retirement
plans which cover the Group’s eligible employees in the PRC,
and a mandatory provident fund scheme for the employees in
Hong Kong.

The PRC operating entities participate in retirement schemes
organised by the PRC municipal and provincial government
authorities, whereby the PRC operating entities are required to
make contribution at defined rates required by different local
government authorities. The local government authorities are
responsible for the pension obligations payable to the retired
employees covered under the retirement schemes.
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The Group also operates a mandatory provident fund scheme
under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance. The mandatory provident fund scheme
is a defined contribution retirement plan administered by
independent trustees. Under the mandatory provident fund
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HKD30,000.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 22 October 2018, which shall be valid
and effective for a period of 10 years from 12 November 2018,
subject to early termination by the Company in a general meeting
or by the Board. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is
to provide incentives to Eligible Person (as defined below) and
is established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
the Eligible Person have had or may have made to the Group.
Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant
an option to any employees, executives or officers (including
executive, non-executive and independent non-executive
Directors) of the Group and any advisers, consultants, suppliers,
customers, agents to the Group and related entities who, in the
sole opinion of the Board, will contribute or have contributed to
the Group (collectively the “Eligible Person”).

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Share Option Scheme and any other option schemes of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of
shares available for issue under options which may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme or other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of
the shares in issue immediately following completion of the IPO
(but taking no account of any shares which may be allotted or
issued pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option (as
defined in the prospectus)), being 120,000,000 shares. The total
number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme to each Eligible Person in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the number of shares in issue as at the date
of grant unless approved by the shareholders of the Company in
general meeting.
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The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board provided that it shall not be less than
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer,
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date
of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

To accept the option, the grantee shall pay HK$0.01 to the
Company by way of consideration for the grant within 30
days from the date of grant. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at
any time after the date upon which the option is deemed to be
granted and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from
that date. The period during which an option may be exercised
will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, save
that no option may be exercised more than 10 years after it
has been granted. The Board may in its absolute discretion
determine a minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

No option was granted by the Company under the Share Option
Scheme during the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2021. No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this Directors’ report, the total number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was
120,000,000 shares representing approximately 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as elsewhere disclosed in this annual report, no rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company were granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were
any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company and
any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors, or their respective spouse or children under 18 years
of age, to acquire such rights in any other body corporate for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the financial year is as follows:
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Percentage of the Group’s total
HAREBUTERAEZES L

Sales Purchases
fHE BB
The largest customer BREP 0.4%
Five largest customers in aggregate AREP & 1.3%
The largest supplier &AM ER 8.0%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate AAREEE AR 22.2%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had
any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest suppliers and its
five largest customers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has entered into the following connected transactions
during the year ended 31 December 2021. Details of the
transactions are set out below:

Connected transaction in relation to the sale of property units in
the PRC

On 20 May 2021, Xuchang Weiheng, indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the respective property
sale and purchase agreements with (i) Ms. LIN Wei, the spouse
of Mr. LI Xiaobing, the executive Director and controlling
shareholder of the Company, (i) Mr. WANG Zhenfeng, the
executive Director, (iii) Ms. LIU Yulian, the mother of Mr. LI
Xiaobing, and (iv) Ms. ZHANG Fan, the daughter of Ms. Ql
Chunfeng, the executive Director, pursuant to which Xuchang
Weiheng agreed to sell, Ms. LIN Wei, Mr. WANG Zhenfeng,
Ms. LIU Yulian and Ms. ZHANG Fan agreed to purchase, the
respective property units (being certain units located at Hengda
Heyuan at a total consideration of approximately RMB5,906,843.

On 20 May 2021, Xuchang Dongheng, indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the property sale
and purchase agreement with Mr. WANG Zhenfeng, pursuant
to which Xuchang Dongheng agreed to sell and Mr. WANG
Zhenfeng agreed to purchase the property unit located at
Dongcheng Garden at a consideration of approximately
RMB1,638,526.

On 20 May 2021, Xuchang Hengda, indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the property sale
and purchase agreement with Mr. WANG Yifan, the son of Mr.
WANG Zhenfeng, and Ms. DONG Zheng, the daughter-in-law
of Mr. WANG Zhenfeng, pursuant to which Xuchang Hengda
agreed to sell and Mr. WANG Yifan and Ms. DONG Zheng
agreed to purchase the property unit located at Jinhui Plaza at a
consideration of approximately RMB2,000,000.

For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 May 2021.
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Mr. LI Xiaobing is an executive Director and the controlling
shareholder of the Company and Ms. LIN Wei is the spouse of
Mr. LI Xiaobing. Therefore she is an associate of Mr. LI Xiaobing
and a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A the
Listing Rules.

Mr. WANG Zhenfeng is an executive Director. Therefore he is
a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A the
Listing Rules.

Mr. WANG Yifan is the son of Mr. WANG Zhenfeng and therefore
he is an associate of Mr. WANG Zhenfeng and a connected
person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Ms. DONG Zheng is daughter-in-law of Mr. WANG Zhenfeng and
therefore she is deemed as a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Ms. QI Chunfeng is an executive Director and Ms. ZHANG Fan is
the daughter of Ms. QI Chunfeng. Therefore she is an associate
of Ms. QI Chunfeng and a connected person of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

As Ms. LIN Wei and Ms. LIU Yulian are connected persons of
the Company by virtue of their relationship with Mr. LI Xiaobing.
Ms. LIN Wei’s previous transactions (as disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 28 May 2020, Ms. LIN
Wei purchased two commercial units from the Group for a total
consideration of RMB6,901,686) and Mr. LIN Junwei and Ms. LIN
Sai E previous transactions (as disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 30 December 2020, Mr. LIN Junwei
purchased two residential units and 4 carparking spaces and
Ms. LIN Sai E purchased a commercial unit from the Group
for a total consideration of RMB2,146,541 and RMB3,000,000
respectively) were entered into within 12 months prior to the
transactions, pursuant to Rule 14A.81 of the Listing Rules, the
sales of relevant property units by the Group to each of Ms.
LIN Wei and Ms. LIU Yulian pursuant to sale and purchase
agreements are required to be aggregated with Ms. LIN Wei’s
previous transactions and Mr. LIN Junwei and Ms. LIN Sai E
previous transactions.
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Since certain applicable percentage ratios for the sales of
the relevant property units to the each of Ms. LIN Wei and
Ms. LIU Yulian, when aggregated with Ms. LIN Wei's previous
transactions and Mr. LIN Junwei and Ms. LIN Sai E Previous
Transactions are above 0.1% but less than 5%, the sales of the
relevant property units to each of Ms. LIN Wei and Ms. LIU Yulian
are only subject to reporting and announcement requirements
and are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.

Since certain applicable percentage ratios for the sales of the
relevant property units to each of Mr. WANG Zhenfeng, Mr.
WANG Yifan and Ms. DONG Zheng are above 0.1% but less than
5%, the sales of the relevant property units to each of Mr. WANG
Zhenfeng, Mr. WANG Yifan and Ms. DONG Zheng are only
subject to reporting and announcement requirements and are
exempt from independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Rule 14A.76(2) of the Listing Rules.

As all applicable percentage ratios for the sales of the relevant
property units to Ms. ZHANG Fan are less than 5% and the
total consideration is less than HK$3,000,000, the sales of
the relevant property units to Ms. ZHANG Fan is fully exempt
pursuant to Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, all consideration has been fully
settled and all respective property units have been delivered.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

U

Civil engineering construction services

On 20 October 2021, Luohe Hengda entered into the
civil engineering construction contract with Luohe Huatai
Construction, pursuant to which Luohe Hengda entrusted
Luohe Huatai Construction to provide civil engineering
and construction services for two residential blocks and
the connected garages in a construction project. The civil
engineering construction contract, which is continuous in
nature, was entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Company. The total consideration is
approximately of RMB31,005,000 pursuant to the terms of
the civil engineering construction contract. The contract
term is 560 calendar days from 20 October 2021 to 2 May
2028.

Luohe Hengda was held as to 40% by Luohe Huatai and
60% by Xuchang Hengda; and Luohe Huatai was held as to
49% by two independent third parties and 51% by Linying
Hongtong which in turn held 51% equity interest in Luohe
Huatai Construction. Therefore, Luohe Huatai Construction
is a connected person of the Company by virtue of being
an associate of Luohe Huatai at the subsidiary level.
Accordingly, under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
civil engineering construction contract and the transaction
contemplated thereunder constitute a continuing connected
transaction of the Company.

For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 and 26 October 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the fee charged
by Luohe Huatai Construction for the provision of the
civil engineering and construction services amounted to
approximately RMB18,271,000, which was within the annual
cap of RMB18,275,000 for the same period.
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(ii) Property management services

On 30 June 2020, the Company and Hengda Property
Management entered into a revised master property
management service agreement for a term from 1 July 2020
to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive), pursuant to
which the Hengda Property Management agreed to provide
a variety of property management and related services to
our Group.

For further details please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 30 June 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the fees charged
by Hengda Property Management for the provision
of the services under the revised master property
management service agreement amounted to approximately
RMB16,437,000, which was within the annual cap of
RMB16,546,000 for the same period.

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been
reviewed by the independent non-executive Directors and they
confirmed that the aforesaid transactions were entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (i) on
normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to the
Group than terms available to or from independent third parties,
and (i) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
the transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole.

Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has
provided a letter to the Board, confirming that nothing has come
to their attention which causes them to believe the continuing
connected transactions abovementioned:

()  have not been approved by the Board;
(i) have not been entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing the

transactions; and

(i) have exceeded their respective annual caps.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the
Group in the normal course of business are set out in note 37
to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions, which constituted connected transactions not
being exempt from annual reporting requirement under the
Listing Rules, are set out in the sections headed “Connected
Transactions” and “Continuing Connected Transactions” above,
and the Company has complied with the relevant disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group
as of 31 December 2021 are set out in notes 18 to 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469 of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the
Directors is currently in force.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had any interest in the businesses which
compete or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the businesses of the Group that were required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rule 8.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of Mr. Li Xiaobing, Ever Commitment (PTC) Limited,
Ever Enhancement Enterprise Company Limited and Ever
Enrichment Enterprise Company Limited (each a “Non-Compete
Covenantor”) has entered into a deed of non-competition
(the “Deed of Non-competition”) dated 22 October 2018 in
favour of the Company, pursuant to which they have undertaken
with the Company that they shall not, and shall procure that
their respective associates shall not, directly or indirectly, be
interested, involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or
interest in any business which competes or is likely to compete
directly or indirectly with the core business of the Group from
time to time.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of the
Non-Compete Covenantors in respect of their compliance with
the Deed of Non-Competition and the connected transaction
agreements during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The independent non-executive Directors also reviewed the
Non-Compete Covenantors’ compliance with the Deed of Non-
Competition. The independent non-executive Directors confirmed
that the Non-Compete Covenantors were not in breach of the
Deed of Non-Competition during the year ended 31 December
2021.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

A report on the environmental, social and governance is set out
on pages 57 to 100 of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 101 to 118 of this
annual report.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least
25% of the Company’s total issued share capital was held by
the public from the date of listing up to the date of this annual
report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no material events were
undertaken by the Group subsequent to 31 December 2021.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donation of
approximately RMB5,290,000.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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AUDITOR = EER

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 KEBEE2021F 128318 L FE 2 47
December 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, AV BB REABEERMKESFEMES
who will retire, and being eligible, offer themselves for re- Fres iz - M2 TRk B R A=
appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of HRE - MHEERLEEEEET -
PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company will be AARBEREEREBFAS LRSS
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the BRRNEREEBKESHMEBMA

Company. PN/NSIR % T

By order of the Board EEEE®

LI Xiaobing FTERHTEF

Chairman and Executive Director Z=NIK

30 March 2022 20229 3H30H
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

PURPOSE AND CRITERIA OF THE REPORT

To comply with the requirements set out in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 of the
Listing Rules, the Group hereby presents its Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”) for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The purpose of the ESG Report is to identify and disclose the
major issues of the Group in relation to the environment, society
and governance (hereafter “ESG”) as well as its key performance
indicators while illustrating its pursuit of sustainable development
and practice of its social responsibility in every aspect.

SCOPE AND PERIOD OF THE ESG REPORT

This ESG Report covers the information of Ever Reach and
its selected subsidiaries, a total of 7 companies (2020: 10).
Information about certain subsidiaries were excluded from this
ESG Report, as they contributed less than 1% of the Group’s
operating income. Moreover, due to the continued impact of the
COVID-19 epidemic, some subsidiaries were not able to carry
out normal business operations and were therefore excluded
from this ESG Report.

The ESG Report discloses the major issues and key performance
indicators of the main key projects in the operations and
real estate development business of the Group in respect of
environmental management, social responsibility and governance
during the period between 1 January 2021 and 31 December
2021 (hereafter the “Reporting Period”).

Looking forward, Ever Reach believes that sustainable
development will continue to play an important part in its
business operations. In the future, the Group will continue
to improve its data collection and reporting system on
environmental management, social responsibility and
governance performance, and gradually enhance the quality and
comprehensiveness of the ESG Report in the long run.

DATA COLLECTION METHODOLOGY

The data used in the ESG Report comes from the relevant
functional departments of Ever Reach and its selected
subsidiaries.
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CONCERNS OF THE STAKEHOLDERS &N

The Group attaches great importance to its social responsibility SEHERTEEERUREZRME B
and sustainability and tries its best to understand the concerns BEEFEOEMBINGE BRAER
of each of its stakeholders and meet their expectations and EERTRMNEBREREFMEKE
requirements through operations and various communication SHMER - UERHERESRER A

channels, so as to grow strong together with them and HEEREANEE -
contribute the greatest value to the community.

Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group
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Government Operation in The Group adheres to the business philosophy of honesty and
compliance integrity. It has actively fulfilled the obligations of corporate citizens,

Economic growth

Community
construction
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and promoted the harmonious development of society, so as to
become a model for corporate citizenship.

We maintain strict compliance with the laws and regulations, paying
taxes honestly, fighting corruption, money laundering and bribery;
we give full play to our strengths in resource integration while
“enacting measures according to local conditions and applying
them on well-chosen targets”; we will further optimize our real
estate development business and strive to establish a strategic
presence in the development of high-end homes and smart
communities.
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Response of the Group
SEEMEE

Customers

Product quality, safety
experience &
customer services

Privacy &
confidentiality
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The Group insists on thinking from the perspective of customers,
creating value for customers, and taking a customer-oriented
approach. Using this as a source, we have developed the ideal
housings for different groups of people, and meet the needs of our
customers now and in future through continuous innovation.

We strive to build high-quality houses and smart living environment
in accordance with the strict quality standards for housing
and building materials. We have set up multiple customer
communication and feedback channels to listen to their opinions
and handle inquiries or complaints. We have in place multiple
protection measures for the privacy of customer data, with those
who have direct access to the customer information required to
sign a Customer Data Confidentiality Agreement.
SERBLAERFARERE  RAEPEAEEBE  —YUEPRFL -
KRR BHMERTRABECITEREARE  UWRBKFER
MmEEPREMRKRNFK -

EREFRNEERZEEMHNEERERE BREREERERE
BEEEERR RUZEEFBEBAMOERE REXFPEAR
REAEAIKF HEFPEBRBLAEZELERRE BEEREKHE
REBEFEEMNABRIEFEBRRE HH)
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RIR - HERERHE

Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group
H0E BENEE S ENE E
Investors Investment returns The Group is accountable to all investors and strives to provide

Corporate information
transparency

Interests protection

KREH K E @R
REEEERE

R RIE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

them with reasonable, sustained and stable returns on their
investments.

We are making great efforts to capture the market trend
while constantly enhancing our management capabilities, our
brand influence and value. We maintain close and transparent
communication with our investors and the market through investor
meetings, shareholders’ meetings and release of annual reports
and interim reports. We have in place a rigorous risk management
and internal control system in cooperation with the internal audit
function, so that the management and audit committee can focus
on the adequacy and effectiveness of our risk management and
internal control system.

SEHHEMEREEAE BHEREEEGAEN  HENNE
R U A e

BEEEMSBE  TEHIREAZEREEN  BtoBTEHREE -
BREREEER BMRARE FHRLTPHRESOEM BREE
EMGRIHEREERANEE - REBENRAREERARMEERLG
FEamEEZBE ERERELZESRIINARRERER
NEMEZERBROT D ERE R -
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Response of the Group
SEEMEE

Employees

il
H

Suppliers

HER

Health & safety

Career development

Training opportunities

BENZZ

BERER

Tl e

Transparency in
procurement
process

Development
opportunities

Commercial integrity

REBEREERE

ERKE

EEEH

The Group believes that its employees are the most valuable
assets. We fully respect the rights and interests of our employees,
and provide them with a platform to exert their talents and achieve
their career development, such that our employees can grow
together and share the operating results with the Company.

We strive to create a competitive work environment, a sound
performance appraisal system and a remuneration and welfare
system while constantly improving our training and development
system, so as to help our employees blend into the long-term
development of the Group, spark off their potentials and enhance
their satisfaction and sense of belonging.
SEGFEEIRNMXREENME ROBEEIHEG AET
REBESIBNERBANTR  BETRCEHRABRAKR &
¥HEETHESZXR -

'3
D=

LEABFNINTEIE ZENEREREFHENER &
TEBNIRREBR SIEETHEBRAINCEREZRZY
%
X

HETEE RABINREEMBBR

o

A

i

We have in place a well-maintained supplier management system,
which enables a clear division of the supervisory functions and
combines supplier assessment and approval, supplier selection and
performance evaluation to oversee the supply chain management in
all aspects.

BRAZENHEREEHNE EREETHENHAEIT  HERD
MAFmREL HEPEERRBETE USETDEEHER

B -
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RIR - HERERHE

Stakeholders Concerns Response of the Group
BHE MRS SEEMEE
Community Job opportunities We are committed to the long-term and ambitious development

Environment
friendliness &
energy saving

Public welfare
P MEHKE

of our business and creating more job opportunities for the
community. We will try our best to gradually reduce emission and
consumption of energy, reduce greenhouse gas emission and
improve energy efficiency while vigorously practicing our corporate
social responsibility and promoting the development of philanthropy
in the regions where we operate.

REBBRMBERER AEESHERS ZLEBRRE
BORERBHMSIREALREAN G - BHEBLELGEME -
EZEXBHRNEEETEER -

N

IMPORTANCE OF THE ESG TOPICS ESGEEMEEM

The Group has conducted an assessment of the importance EECHESGHBET TEEZUH DM
of the ESG topics. The factors for consideration include the e ZEAZRREEEMERBEBE
strategic objectives and policies of the businesses of the MEE - TEEE EZBENEERME -
Group, industry standards, legal and regulatory responsibilities, REGRE BREHA HEEEE ES
environmental protection, resource utilisation, quality control REZSZE UBHEBHRINEZZE - B
and employee protection, etc. with the aim of helping the Group BEZUFTHI>N SERNSEEEZ
identify important issues. Through such an assessment and EE UEAREFE2EMEREDRE
analysis, the Group has identified various major issues and has SEYEERENOE -

described the Group’s response to such important issues in a
more complete and accurate way in the ESG Report.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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RIE  HERERRE

FEFE44IERE Materiality Analysis Matrix
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Importance of ESG Topics to External Stakeholder
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RIR - HERERHE

Iltem ESGTopic

Item ESG Topic

HE ESGHHE 1HE ESGE&E&E
1 Staff remuneration, benefits and rights 15 Product healthy and safety
(e.g. working hours, rest periods, working
environment)
STEB - B AR (B0 TIERME - KB EmERERZR
o~ TEIRIE)
2 Occupational health and safety 16 Customer information and privacy protection
BERERERNZ S BEEEEMLERE
&) Customer satisfaction 17 Promotion of local employment
BEEWMEE e 1 8 3 %
4 Prevention of child labour and forced labour 18 Anti-corruption training provided for Directors
and staff
PrltEEZET g H4 T MEFTMEIRHNREGE
5 Staff diversity and equal opportunities 19 Climate change
BIZTtMTEHE R AR &1
6 Compliance with and protection of intellectual 20 Environmental friendliness of purchased products
property rights and services
BFARENBER KBEMNRBNRER TG
7 Product and service labelling 21 Environmental risks (e.g. pollution) and social
risks (e.g. monopoly) for suppliers
2 m MR R HEBNREER (0 5R) Mt g &R (-
BEIT)
8 Hazardous waste generation 22 Community support (e.g. donation, volunteer
work)
EEEEYVNES HEXFGINBE  ERRE)
9 Sales and marketing (e.g. advertisements) 23 Water use
B A0 HE B (I 40 & ) KEIRBE A
10 Number of concluded legal cases in relation to 24 Use of materials (e.g. paper, packaging, raw
corrupt practices (e.g. bribery, extortion, fraud, materials)
and money laundering)
FERBBITRNEERELEREEE - PR MEHER (Pl - 25 - RMED
PR BMFNEE
11 Measures in relation to environment and natural 25 Exhuast gas emissions
resources protection
RERBEMARAERNOIE I = mBE
12 Supplier selection and monitoring 26 Energy use (e.g. electricity, gas, fuel)
HEREENMER BERERWGIES - R - BED
13 Anti-corruption policies and whistleblowing 27 Greenhouse gas emissions
procedures
REBBR REHwRIE mEREEEN
14 Staff development, training and promotion 28 Non-hazardous waste generation
BIERMEINEFH BEREVNEE

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA
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According to the Materiality Matrix, items located at the upper
right corner represent ESG topics of higher importance, namely
“staff remuneration, benefits and rights”, “occupational health
and safety”, “customer satisfaction” and “prevention of child
labour and forced labour”. The above items are the key drivers
for the sustainable development of the Group and will be further
elaborated below.

THE BOARD’S ESG STATEMENT

The Board of the Group is fully aware of its responsibility and is
committed to protecting and enhnacing the long-term interests of
its Shareholders, as well as managing and leading the the Group
to achieve sustainable growth and give back to the environment
and the society. In the past 12 months, the coronavirus
has brought unprecedented challenges to the society and
the economy. Such crisis also heightened concerns of the
investors and stakeholders of the Company over ESG issues.
Our ESG performance is inevitably one of the key indicators
for demonstrating our corporate social responsibility and our
sustainable growth in the future.

To strengthen our sustainability management, the Group
has established a governance framework for sustainable
development that progressively integrates sustainability topics
into the basis of the business development strategy of all
business units. By defining the ESG responsibilities of each
department and subsidiary, we were able to root the concept
of sustainability in our workforce and create value for the
communities in which we operate.

RIR - HERERHE

RESEENERE URALANEERS
HHEFTEEZMESGEHR - ZFFHD A
SIETHM @A MERN] [BEER
Mzz [EFPREERIRIKDLERE
TMRFBT] EERMERAEKE
EBAKEERNTIZHEDS N UK E
TXHE— R -

EXZENRE  HEeRELEH

AEBEESRPEECT  BHIRRE
ERABRROEERMNZD  EEMETER
SENERAUFEZRIBDENRER
HEe -RBET-_M@AR FEEMREB
SRAMERRETRTAMARENE -
LEETMBE TREERRR RN ER
JIESGEB D - B EMESGRIAE
AEeRERARRNECELEEENK
KAFBERNBAREEZ— -

RTMEREEREAFHEERNERETE -
AEBERZUARKEERELORE &
ARBERNTIEBEZTIMARMMAEE
BEMNMEBERBBERT - EER
MPARMB AR EBESGHRE @ &7
HEZRNESHBREMOETEEK -
RAREEEMELRAEE®E -
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HERERRE

The Board is responsible for the overall monitoring of the
Group’s ESG issues, including the development of strategies and
visions relating to ESG, monitoring our actual performance and
progress, as well as considering related risks and opportunities.
In developing its ESG management approach and strategy, the
Board will take into account the materiality assessment and
the feedback collected from its communication with various
stakeholders to determine the sustainability focus of the Group,
and establish the priorities for resource allocation to address
such issues. In addition, the Board and the senior management
will review topics and policies related to the Group’s sustainable
development on an annual basis and make timely changes to the
policies.

Through our ESG management approach and strategy, the
Group is committed to deliver positive results in its four focus
areas: (i) employee compensation, welfare and rights; (ii)
occupational health and safety; (iii) customer satisfaction; (iv)
prevention of child labour and forced labour. In the face of the
COVID-19 crisis, the Group remains firm in its progress towards
sustainable development. In the future, the Group will continue
to adjust its overall approach and strategy in response to various
factors.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
DISCLOSURE

A.

ENVIRONMENT

The Group has been committed to ensuring strict compliance
of its business activities with local laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the “Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, the “Atmospheric Pollution
Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
the “Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of People’s
Republic of China” and the “Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution
by Solid Wastes”. It also imposes stringent requirements on
the management measures for environmental protection and
discusses the reduction goals with its contractors and requires
them to strictly follow the environmental protection principles.
The Group has also formulated a series of environment
protection measures to reduce emissions and energy
consumption, prevent dust and reduce noise, so as to integrate
environmental management into its daily operation and strive
to minimise the impact of its operations on the environment.
During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations
relating to air emissions, greenhouse gas emissions (“GHG
emissions”), discharges into water and land, and generation
of non-hazardous waste during the reporting period.

A1 EMISSIONS

Emission reduction is an important issue in the
Group’s environmental protection program, for which
it is making constant efforts to reduce emission in its
daily operations and enhance its energy efficiency.
In our daily operations, we used environment-friendly
devices such as OA office automation system and
watersaving products. Due to the continued outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic, we also encouraged our
employees to hold video conferences more frequently
and reduce the number of business trips during the
year, in order to safeguard employees’ well-being
and enhance work efficiency. As a result, the above
measures were effective in reducing emissions of
greenhouse gases and other air pollutants.

RIR - HERERHE
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RIR - HERERHE

During the Year, the Group included in its assessment
the emissions of greenhouse gas and other air
pollutants by its core projects of the real estate
business and collected data by region and development
projects.

A1.1 AIR POLLUTANTS

During the Year, the Group produced 0.13 kg of
nitrous oxides (NOx) from its gas usage. Data
relating to air pollutants emitted from vehicles is
set out below.

SERAFEARMERXBT
EROBABNAREREREA
ZERIT R AT - #t
il M ERERETEEK

£ o

Al1 EFTRY

SEREAFERERHK
REETORBTRHASR
E#(NOX) » LT RR B E
W= RS R DBERBE -

Percentage
Air pollutantsioe 7 Unit 2021 2020 change
ERFFRY V) B 2021 20205  EALLR
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) from vehicles kg 68.67 375.70 -81.72%
REEHRNALELMNO) TR
Sulfur oxides (SOx) from vehicles kg 6.08 36.14 -83.18%
REEWMH ALY ESO) T
Particulate Matter (PM) from vehicles kg 0.78 0.71 +9.86%
R B ) TR S8R OF R RL(PM) Tr
Total air pollutants emissions (note 2) kg 75.53 412.55 -81.69%
Mz RS R B2 T
Notes: B et -

(1)  The statistics for air pollutants emissions in 2020
included 10 subsidiaries, while the statistics
for air pollutants emissions in 2021 included 7
subsidiaries.

(2) Committed to reducing air pollutants emissions,
the Group encouraged employees to commute by
public transport, thereby bringing down the total
air pollutants emissions by 81.69% as compared to
the previous year.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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A1.2 GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS

As an active repsonse to the national development
policy of building a low-carbon economy, the
Group implemented the following rules to reduce
emissions:

e Work and construction vehicles should be
driven within their respective speed limits;

e Regarding work vehicles: Employees are
encouraged to make telephone calls to
resolve business matters to reduce vehicle
use. No more than one vehicle will be leased
out for company business conducted at the
same location (or areas nearby) by different
departments. Employees must use public
transportation for one-way trips under 4 km,
and the use of taxis is prohibited;

e A repair approval system for car parts is
strictly enforced. Only broken car parts are
eligible for repair;

° Fuel oil storage equipment is regularly
reviewed to ensure that it is in good condition.
Fuel refills are duly recorded;

e To reduce carbon emission, diesel exhuast
fluid and low-carbon fuels (e.g. Euro V Diesel)
should be used;

° Employees are encouraged to turn off
electronic devices when not in use, enable the
power-saving mode for idle printers, and turn
off air-conditioners and lights after working
hours.

RIR - HERERHE

A1.2 8B FRmEEHE
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Percentage
Scope of greenhouse gas emissions o7 Unit 2021 2020 change
BRERBHEREED B 20214 2020F EALLR
Scope 1 Direct greenhouse gas emissions
(note 2)
HEIEERERBHERV2
— Greenhouse gas emissions relating to  Tonne 140.41 129.85 +8.13%
mobile combustion sources (land,
air, and water transport)
—RBRERRERBHER(EL - W
fz &mt@%)
Scope 2 Indirect greenhouse gas
emissions
HE2MERAEREHK
— Purchased electricity Tonne 2,110.93 2,149.91 -1.81%
—BEEN W&
Scope 3 Other indirect greenhouse Tonne 42.33 4510 -6.14%
gas emissions o9
& E3H fib B 45 08 = R B BB A
— Waste paper disposed in landfills Tonne 24.01 26.90 -10.74%
— EEIMERNER g
— Greenhouse gas emissions arising Tonne 14.35 17.63 -18.6%
from the use of electricity by
government departments to treat
freshwater and sewage
— BN AP & ﬁﬁﬁamﬁﬁm%ﬂﬁ
SIBE R =R
— Business travels by airplane (mote 4 Tonne 3.97 0.58 +584.48%
— EERLREEIND B Wiy A
Total greenhouse gas emissions Tonne 2,293.67 2,324.86 -1.34%
BEEREHER Mg
Greenhouse gas emission intensity Tonne/ 8.40 3.70 +127.03%
employee
BERERE W,
BfIET
Notes: Bt &t -

(1)

The statistics for greenhouse gas emissions in
2020 included 10 subsidiaries, while the statistics
for greenhouse gas emissions in 2021 included 7
subsidiaries.

(2) Committed to reducing greenhouse gas emissions,
the Group encouraged employees to commute by
public transport, thereby reducing vehicle usage in
2021.

(3) To gradually enhance the quality and

comprehensiveness of the ESG Report, the Group
urges its staff to collect environmental data to
effectively manage and formulate environmental
protection measures.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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(4 During the Reporting Period, some of our @ RMEEME - BAFE
subsidiaries have resumed operations despite the BRARSFERE A
continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a RE—FFE BHWE
result, the demand for business air travel increased AEIEKEEE D = E
as compared to the previous year. EE) DA M R

GEES DR

The Group believes that our continuous efforts to i m NS R B R B
reduce resource consumption will help lower the B AEBERE HBESE
levels of greenhouse gas emissions and achieve BERBHEROKETRE -
better progress in ESG management. WHAESGE R FEIREFE
FHER ©
A1.83 HAZARDOUS WASTE PRODUCED AlLBHTELBEZEEY

The Group is committed to reducing waste from SEBRNBERRBRBER
its source and adopting recycling practices. The BIRBEANBLEEY -
Group is also committed to avoiding producing REEEHWEZERE
unnecessary waste during the operation of its SEBANEBTRITEE
real estate development business, through the REATNVENEY -

adoption of different measures.

Percentage
Hazardous waste 7 Unit 2021 2020 change
EEBEYL By 20214 20205  EHALHHR
Hazardous waste kg 1,465.94 5,133.54 -71.44%
BEBED Tr
— Cleaning chemicals kg 314.40 517.38 -39.23%
— BRI Em Tr
— Electrical appliances kg 1,130.00 4,610.00 -75.49%
— EFHRE Tr
— Batteries kg 21.54 6.16 +249.68%
— B Tr
Hazardous waste intensity kg/employee 5.37 8.16 -34.19%
BEREDEE Tr/BMET
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Notes:

(1) Although hazardous waste only accounts for
a small portion of the Group’s total waste
volume, all hazardous waste is handled
in a stringent manner by the Group. We
adopt all necessary prevention measures in
accordance with the Law on the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by
Solid Waste” to ensure the safety of our staff
and the environment.

(2) To gradually enhance the quality and
comprehensiveness of the ESG Report, the
Group urges its staff to collect environmental
data to effectively manage and formulate
environmental protection measures. The
Group will continue to assess, record and
disclose data relating to greenhouse gas
emissions and other information on an annual
basis to further develop emission reduction
targets in the future.

A1.4 NON-HAZARDOUS WASTE PRODUCED

In respect of the construction works, the Group
adopted a variety of environmental protection
measures, for example, in the stage of planning
and construction in real estate development,
the Group tried to reduce land excavation and
mountain damage through careful planning and
design. In addition, waste paper collection bins
are placed in our office area in the hope that our
staff will work together to dispose of waste paper,
magazines, books, newspapers and other paper
products used in our operations for centralized
collection and selling, with the income offsetting
the relevant costs. The Group engages relevant
recyclers to recycle toner catridges of our printers
when they run out of ink. To reduce paper usage,
we actively encourage our staff to adopt two-sided
printing and reuse single-sided print-outs for
non-legal and general business documents.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA
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The total amount of non-hazardous waste recycled A E N 4R HNE B R
and processed during the year is recorded as BEEREVILHELEN
follows: W

Percentage
Non-hazardous waste 7 Unit 2021 2020 change
BEBEYD By 20214 2020F EHALLER
Total amount of non-hazardous waste kg 2,675.45 4,429.00 -39.59%
mERENER 5
Kitchen waste kg 846.00 1,899.00 -55.45%
Bt T3
General office waste kg 1,829.45 2,530.00 -27.69%
— R DEEY 35
Non-hazardous waste intensity kg/employee 9.80 7.04 +39.20%
BEERENEE i/

BNET

Notes: Kiaz -

(1)  The statistics for non-hazardous waste produced
in 2020 included 10 subsidiaries, while the statistics
for non-hazardous waste produced in 2021 included 7
subsidiaries.

The Group will continue to adhere to the policy
of energy conservation and emission reduction,
reduce paper consumption in an appropriate and
proper way and encourage employees to use
electronic equipment to record information or
cut back on unnecessary printing, for we aim to
further reduce general office waste.

The Group strictly complies with the relevant
laws relating to waste disposal, including the
requirements under the “Standard for Pollution
Control on Hazardous Waste Incineration of the
People’s Republic of China”, the “Standard for
Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste Storage of
the People’s Republic of China”, and the “Standard
for Pollution Control on Hazardous Waste Landfill
of the People’s Republic of China”.

(1) 2020F E 4 &EEREZE
Y E B 10/ A R
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A2 USE OF RESOURCES

A2.1 Direct and indirect energy consumption

To reduce paper usage, the Group has formulated
the “Administrative Measures for Energy
Conservation and Consumption Reduction” to
encourage its employees to adopt two-sided
printing and reuse single-sided print-outs for
non-legal and general business documents. As
required, the use of office paper is put under strict
control. In terms of business engagements, the
Company mostly uses telephone communication
to reduce the demand for using vehicles, upholds
the mindset of “saving being a glory, waste being
a shame”, and actively implements the energy
conservation strategy of the Group.

In addition, the Group attaches great importance
to cultivating employees’ awareness of energy
conservation and calls on its employees in
various departments to jointly resist the waste
of energy. The Group requires each employee
to switch off computers, lights and other office
equipment at the end of each working day.
When the natural temperature is appropriate,
the air conditioners should not be used. When
the outdoor temperature in summer is higher
than 30° C, the air conditioners can be turned
on. The air conditioners should be set at above
26° C and adjusted to low wind, and the indoor
temperature should be maintained at 25 to 26° C.
In winter, when the outdoor temperature is lower
than 8° C, the air conditioners can be turned on
and set at about 20° C. The room temperature
should be maintained at 18 to 20° C. When the air
conditioners are not in use, they should not be left
in the standby state, and security guards should
be sent to take a patrol after office hours on a
daily basis to check and confirm that all the lights
and other unnecessary power-consuming devices
on each floor have been switched off. At the
same time, compact fluorescent lamps and safety
lamps should be used. The use of electric stoves,
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portable immersion heaters and non-energy saving
appliances with high power consumption is strictly
prohibited. On the other hand, the Group also
promotes the use of energy-saving, efficient, and
environmentally-friendly construction equipment
and electrical appliances recommended by
national and industrial authorities to improve our
energy efficiency. The Group therefore actively
monitors and manages our use of resources to
reduce our operating costs and carbon footprint.

During the year, the Group included various
types of energy consumption by its core projects
of the real estate business into the assessment
and collected data by region and development
projects. The data on energy consumption by the

BREOHE  BH - ER
M TRERETRE -

AR m RS - Bt &
EaaERERRERE
RAER - AR K & &K A
K Fix R By

SESAFEAFHER
BEEZDOIEBNZHERE
TROBFEM A GE S - 8 50
B MEREBERETHENR
K -SEXAFREEEER

Group during the year is set forth as follows: HEMEEBOT
Percentage
Use of energy Unit 2021 2020 change
BE R B9 £ B 20214 2020F EHALLR
Non-renewable fuels (direct) Mo 7 MWh 530.15 472.75 +12.14%
FABERM (E#&)7 K&
Purchased energy (indirect)
BEER(EE)
— Electricity ote 1) MWh 3,459.97 2,384.59 +45.10%
— B Wiy KE H%
Total energy consumption et 2) MWh 3,990.12 2,857.33 +39.65%
48 B FE (i) JKF RS
Energy consumption intensity MWh/
employee 14.62 4.54 +222.03%
HEREERE KRB,/
BUET
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Notes:

(1) The statistics for purchased energy (indirect) in
2020 included 10 subsidiaries, while the statistics
for purchased energy (indirect) in 2021 included 7
subsidiaries.

(2) During the Reporting Period, some of our
subsidiaries have resumed operations despite the
continuing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a
result, energy consumption increased as compared
to the previous year.

The Group will continue to monitor its employees’
energy saving in an effort to reduce energy
consumption, achieve energy conservation and
emission reduction and create a green corporate.

A2.2WATER CONSUMPTION
The Group is committed to raising the awareness
of its employees on water-saving, to reduce water
consumption. Measures adopted by the Group
include:
° Putting up posters in our offices to remind
employees not to consume unnecessary

resources;

e Turning off taps that are not in use;

° Requiring our project department to carry out
general inspections of water delivery pipes to
check for leakages, to prevent water wastage;

° Using water efficient products;

e Recycling and reusing water resources;
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e Water meters are installed in our offices,
common areas, and construction sites, with
registration and monthly analysis carried out
by a responsible officer based on the water
consumption records of each department.

All freshwater and flushing water used by the
Group are provided by municipal water supply
authorities with authorised licenses/permits. The
Group faced no issues when purchasing suitable
water.

e MR AEFER-
THRBHEERKE B
BEANBEETES
FARE S A B K
ENTHETERED
#r

SEERNBRAKM
HRIAK - HEFERA
W2 ER /3 AT Y OB K
BEREM  YRAERKE
MHEES AR EB EMRE -

Percentage
Water consumption o 7 Unit 2021 2020 change
i b S By 2021 20205  EALLR
Water consumption m3 23,414.76 28,418.58 -17.61%
BKE K
Water consumption intensity m3employee 73.70 4518 +63.12%
HKEE VFHAK/BUET
Notes: Hiat -

(1) The statistics for water consumption in 2020
included 10 subsidiaries, while the statistics for
water consumption in 2021 included 7 subsidiaries.

In addition, the table below sets out our total
air travel distance in 2021. During the Reporting
Period, some of our subsidiaries have resumed
operations despite the continuing impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, the demand for
business air travel increased as compared to the
previous year. Accordingly, the air travel distance
has also increased.

(1) 2020F FEKEHEBE
10f 2 &) 20214 F£ K
EHERETHAR -

BN AT B20214F [ &Y
BEEMERITERE - N®
SHR S AT TG
SYERE HRNE—
FE - BHKBRAEE
EEHHEETE UK
A AR 1T B kg
ARZeiR7TREBE INBE 2 3500 o

Percentage

Unit 2021 2020 change

B 20214 2020 HoOLL®

Air travel distance km 23,827.00 5,064.00 +370.52%
fin 22 1k 17 20 B FK
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A3 ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

In order to respond positively to the national strategic
policy which requires speed-up of construction of
conservation-oriented society and implement the
Company’s administrative measures for energy
conservation, make the Company become an efficient,
conserving and energy-saving example, and regulate
the specific management of energy conservation and
consumption reduction of construction enterprises,
the Group actively promotes environment-friendly
concept and instills it in every stage of the entire
construction project, i.e. planning, design, construction
and sale, striving to integrate the concepts of green
and environmental protection into the architectural
style of the Group. The Group also cooperates with
the outstanding design institutes to integrate the
architectural design with the surrounding natural
conditions, and strives to create a comfortable
living space and provide ecological green homes for
customers.

The Group complies with the national and local
environmental protection laws and various types
of environmental protection laws and regulations
promulgated by the PRC as it carries out its project
development, including but not limited to the
“Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic
of China”, the “Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People's Republic of China”, the
“Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People's Republic of China”, and the “Solid Waste
Prevention and Control Law of the People's Republic
of China”. In the stage of planning and construction
in real estate development, the Group proactively
communicates with contractors and advocates green
construction work and strives to save resources
and reduce the impact of construction work on the
environment through scientific management and
technological advancement.
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A4 CLIMATE CHANGE

With people and corporates all over the world being
increasingly concerned about the impact brought
about by climate change, sustainable environmental
protection has become a strategic focus in the real
estate industry. The Group has been paying close
attention to the risks posed by climate change, which
will enable us to undergo a smooth transition to a
low-carbon economy and achieve prosperous growth.

Physical risks

Physical risks refer to risks related to physical impacts of climate
change on the Company, which include acute physical risks
driven by specific events, especially weather-related events
such as as storms, floods, fires or heat waves. Such events may
cause damage to construction works, affect material supplies
and result in a series of negative impacts. Physical risks also
refer to chronic physical risks arising from long-term shifts in
climate patterns, such as temperature changes, rising sea levels,
reduced water availability, loss of biodiversity, and changes in
land and soil productivity. The Group has developed a “Climate
Change Policy” that covers various events relating to the weather
to reduce acute physical risks.

Transition risks

Transition risks refer to risks arising from the Group’s transition
to a low-carbon and climate resilient economy, which include:

Policy and legal risks

Despite the impacts of policy changes on the business
environment, the Group’s flexible business model allows it to
adapt to any changes in policies related to climate change. The
Group is committed to maintaining high environmental standards
to meet relevant requirements in its operations and will continue
to invest human and financial resources in environmental
protection efforts as required under applicable laws and
regulations to reduce carbon footprint. Laws and regulations that
we comply with include but are not limited to the “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“‘Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
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People’s Republic of China”, the “Water Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China”, and the “Solid
Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China”. During the Year, the Group complied with the
relevant environmental protection laws and regulations in relation
to exhaust gas and greenhouses gas emissions, water and land
discharge, and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste. The Group did not violate any environmental protection
laws or regulations of the region where we operate, nor was it
subject to significant fines, non-monetary penalties and litigation
relating to environmental protection.

Technology risks

The Group has always been committed to improving our
construction technology. We will consider to continue our
investment, research and development in this area, with an
aim to reduce the environmental pollution caused by property
development.

Market risks

The property markets in the cities in which we have operations
or plan to expand our operations are competitive. Our existing
and potential competitors include both major national and
regional property developers with expansive operations in
the cities or markets in which we operate as well as local
property developers. The Group is committed to reducing the
environmental impact of our operations and will seek to further
enhance our market presence in these cities.

Reputational risks

In reponse to the public’s views on climate change, the Group
has integrated environmental protection measures in our
business operations. The Group will closely monitor the carbon
footprint of our operations, and further explore other ways to
reduce our impact on the environment.
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B. SOCIETY B. #&

B1 EMPLOYMENT B1 EF

The Group always believes that our employees are
important assets of the Group. The Group adheres
to the people-oriented philosophy and guarantees
employees’ rights and benefits. By creating a pleasant
and healthy work environment, improving the salary
and welfare systems, and increasing the training
opportunities, we encourage employees to actively
carry out career planning, motivate employees’
enthusiasm for work, and enhance employees’ sense
of belonging. The Group has developed a code of
conduct under its employee handbook that helps to
communicate the expectations of the management
team and employees on compensation and welfare,
training and development, and occupational health, in
order to provide protection against unfair or unequal
treatment and discrimination at work.

Policies on Employees’ Compensation and Benefits

In order to attract and retain talents, the Group
takes the characteristics and needs of the posts and
positions into full account when it is hiring people,
forbidding gender discrimination and promoting gender
equality. In addition, for the protection and welfare of
its employees, the Group tries its best to provide them
with good protection and care, including competitive
remuneration, equal and fair pay, a comfortable
and safe work environment, and annual free body
examination etc.

We provide social insurances for employees such as
pension, medical care, unemployment and maternity
insurance according to national and local provisions.
We also contribute to the housing provident fund for our
employees. Employees’ health and safety are always
our first priority. All workers are required to comply with
safety instructions and receive safety training on the
use of equpment. We also maintain insurance coverage
against personal injuries and accidents for employees
in special positions.
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The Group provides heating and cooling subsidies
in the winter and summer, respectively. We also
provide allowances for transportation, communication,
cleaning, missed meals, and hardship for employees.
Special allowances, such as relocation allowance and
rental subsidy, will be provided to our relocating staff.

We provide benefits for working mothers in accordance
with national regulations, such as paid maternity leave
and breastfeeding leave during our female employees’
pregnancy, childbirth, and breastfeeding periods.

We take the realisation of “internal equity” and “external
competitiveness” as our fundamental principle. The
Group establishes and improves its remuneration
system through “three matchings”, which refer to that
the remuneration matches the value of the position, the
remuneration matches the ability, and the remuneration
matches the performance.

The remuneration of an individual will be determined
with reference to the employee’s personal
qualifications, education background, length of
service in relevant professional fields, actual years of
experience and professional qualification. The salary
scale is assessed according to the employee’s position,
responsibility and obligation, value and experience.

The Group will conduct a fair and open performance
appraisal for all employees through assessment on the
results of relevant companies and job performance.
Appraisees prepare and summarise the completion of
monthly priorities and record in the form of “Completion
of Monthly Working Plan”, which will be signed by the
appraisers for confirmation. It is an important evidence
for appraisers when making appraisals for appraisees
in respect to the completion of their priorities at the
end of year.
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Salaries of employees are paid on an annual or monthly
basis, both of which are composed of fixed salary and
performance bonus. The fixed salary is determined
mainly based on the assessment result of the value
of employees’ positions, and the performance bonus
is determined mainly with reference to the appraisal
results. The salary of employees being paid on an
annual basis comprises of monthly payment part and
year-end payment part. The specific payment method
is implemented according to the terms agreed by both
parties in the acceptance letter.

Equal Opportunity

A good working environment should be free of
discrimination and should provide equal opportunities
for all employees regardless of their age, gender,
ethnicity, skin color, sexual orientation, disability, or
marital status. The Group adhered to the principle of
openness, justice and fairness in recruitment and a
unified principle without discrimination in employment
standards and selection procedures. The Group takes
the characteristics of the posts and positions into full
account when hiring people and fights against gender
discrimination. Those who have made significant
contributions in daily work would be rewarded based
on the reward & punishment measures for employees.

Employee Diversity

The Group cares about the diversity of its employees
and constantly expands its recruitment channels
(social recruitment, headhunting, internal and external
referrals, etc.), aiming to maintain the diversity of its
employee structure in such aspects as employee
education, working background and specialties. The
Group analyses the diversity of its current employee
structure on a regular basis to provide guidance for the
follow-up recruitment.
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Anti-discrimination and Anti-harassment

The Group’s labour and employment procedures are
strictly aligned with national policies, requirements and
standards on anti-discrimination and no discrimination
against religion, ethnicity, race and gender is found
in policies for recruitment and daily employment
procedures. The Group also strictly adhered to and
observed related institutional norms and ensured
the execution was in place in various ways including
regular reviews, random checks, feedback, notification,
rectification and self-inspection in each subsidiary in
daily work.

The Group has also set clear regulations to severely
punish different kinds of discrimination and harassment
behaviours in violation of the regulations and
encouraged employees to report behaviours that
were against the regulations or incidents harmful to
the Group’s interests. Employees may report related
behaviours through various channels at any time. As
phone numbers and emails of the Group’s management
and head of each department were open to employees,
employees may report anonymously or in their real
names at any time. Human resource and administrative
personnel would collect employee opinions and
suggestions in such ways as making questionnaire
among all employees and doing individual interviews
to gather related information from our employees.
During this reporting year, the Group has not received
any report on discrimination or harassment incidents.
The Group would strictly deal with such reports in
accordance with the laws and regulations once any
reports were submitted.
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Employment Highlights

As of the end of 2021, the total number of employees
at Ever Reach and its selected subsidiaries was 273,
and all of them were engaged with labour contracts. All
employees worked in Mainland China and Hong Kong.

12 1% 2%
BE—_T-_—FER EEER
REENHMBRARBTAHA

273N YU S EHERMNTTAE
A AEETHEREAM R
BAMETIE-

Percentage
Total number of employees by gender Unit 2021 2020 change
RMBBINETARAY By 20214 20205  EHALLHR
Total number of employees No. of people 273 629 -56.60%
BETAY A
Male No. of people 185 368 -49.73%
ES A
Female No. of people 88 261 -66.28%
ko8 A
Male-to-female ratio of employees 210 1.41 +48.94%
BLETAELA

Percentage
Total number of employees by age group Unit 2021 2020 change
RERBREBSINETIHAY B 20214 2020F EHALL®
Aged<30 No. of people 54 237 -77.22%
FRIES0RIAT A
Aged 30-50 No. of people 198 352 -43.75%
F #230-5073% A
Aged>50 No. of people 21 40 -47.50%
F iR H#1H50 A
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Employee Turnover Rate

As of the end of 2021, the turnover rate of the Group
was 13%. The tables below set out the employee
turnover rate by gender and age group.
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1B 8 X E

BE_T-_—FE SENR
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Percentage
Employee turnover rate by gender Unit 2021 2020 change
BRUERESNESREE By 20214 2020F EHAOLHLE
Male % 20% 12% +66.67%
= %
Female % 26% 19% +36.84%
X %

Percentage
Employee turnover rate by age group Unit 2021 2020 change
BRERBEINEEREAE By 20214 2020F EHAOLHLE
Aged<30 % 54% 22% +145.45%
FERII0IAT
Aged 30-50 % 15% 11% +36.36%
F #30-505%
Aged>50 % 5% 5% =
F iR B50

In 2021, due to the reallocation of our staff during
the Reporting Period, relevant staff in the sales
business were deployed to a subsidiary not included
in the reporting scope. Therefore, the total number
of employees this year decreased significantly. In the
future, the Group will continue to recruit talents from all
walks of life to join us, strive to promote gender equality
in the workplace, and employ people on a merit basis.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

20216 B BN G BAEREH
MEEBABEHNHE HE
E¥BHEBABESRIKXES
EREHEEH—HFRAE - E
I NREFEERITHNRETAH
RETK -ERREBDAE
BERES BHTteSAEE
ATMAER - BHRFIHR
BRI ATES AAKE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE  HERERRE

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY B2 #ERZZ

The Group provides our employees a comfortable
and safe work environment with well-equipped office
hardware. The office building is spacious and clean
with abundant ancillary resources including meeting
rooms, resting areas and etc. The Group carries out
fire drills regularly and always reminds our employees
of paying attention to public safety.

Occupational Health and Safety Protection

During the Reporting Period, due to the continuing
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group and its
employees, we had to adopt more stringent pandemic
prevention measures to protect our employees. In
respect of employee health and medical protection, the
Group provides free health checkup services each year
for employees, and also provides social insurance for
employees, among which includes relevant insurances
for major diseases, accidents, work-related injuries,
outpatient and inpatient medical care.

The Group has been complying with all laws and
regulations relating to health and safety, including but
not limited to the “Labor Law of the People's Republic
of China” and the “Social Insurance Law of the People's
Republic of China”. The Group also has specific safety
requirement documents, with the established goal
of “having zero work injuries throughout the year”.
It conducts safety inspections on site each year to
ensure the health and safety of employees at the
workplace. At the same time, the Company organized a
safety training session, where we covered the following
five topics: safety culture, risk incidents, everyday
safety, construction safety, and safety production in
the summer. The aim of the training session was to
enhance the safety awareness and the safety operation
skills of our staff, to prevent incidents from happening.
During the past three reporting years, the Group did
not have any work-related fatalities nor work days lost
due to work-related injuries.
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B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group highly emphasises employees’ professional
skill improvement, training and learning and encourages
our staff to improve and upgrade their skills through
training, so that they can fully utilise their specialty and
potentials at different positions. The Group encourages
individuals to combine their own specialty and hobbies
with the Group’s business development and proactively
strive for opportunities. In addition, the Group also
encourages employees to take internal job rotation
and develop across functions. The Group has already
set up a mature training and learning system including
hierarchical and classified training and learning maps,
matched with all sorts of training projects. The Group
also has diversified resources and patterns to support
employees’ training and learning, such as online
learning platform, internal training, external training and
SO on.

The Group ensures the pertinence and practicability
when designing training plans. Every year the Group
combines with the need of business development and
sets up corresponding learning projects according
to different business sections, specialties, titles and
levels, job categories so as to make sure employees
of various positions can obtain corresponding training
and learning opportunities and resources according to
their job types. Every year the Group formulates annual
training plans according to the need of businesses
and employees and regularly reviews the plans to
make proper adjustments in order to ensure learning
arrangements conform to the need of business and
employee development.
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In the annual training plan, the Group will formulate
exclusive internal and external learning plans and
opportunities aiming at the present status and
business challenges faced by middle-level and
senior management so as to make sure middle-
level and senior management are provided with rich
learning opportunities. For all the internal training
projects, the Group conducts research before
training and makes evaluation after training, listens
to opinions and suggestions of attendants about
learning arrangements, meanwhile makes relevant
adjustments to the arrangements based on the results
and outcomes of training. The Group’s training plan,
notices about detailed training programs and reports
after training will be informed to employees timely via a
variety of channels.

On 22 April, the Group organized a training session on
the establishment of roles of a project general manager
and five major tasks. Employees understood the four
role changes that a project general manager undergoes
and identified the requirements of the five major tasks
in the entire process of real estate development. They
also learned about benchmark business cases and
mastered the ways and methods to achieve project
goals.

On 29 May 2021, the Group organized a 2-day training
program on quality engineering management and
cross-sector cooperation in the real estate industry, in
which we analyzed and explained the following ways
to improve engineering management capabilities:
manage construction progress through operation
management, make use of effective control methods
for engineering management, analyze cost control
strategies for engineering, and examine the synergic
relationship between engineering management and
other professions.
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On 5 June 2021, the Group organized a leadership
excellence training session for real estate companies
to improve the leadership skills of their employees.
The session covers the following topics: participants’
strengths and areas of improvement in terms of
leadership, basic concepts and beliefs, setting good
examples by aligning behaviors with mutual goals,
visions for the future, inspiring others to share the
same visions, finding opportunities to assume risks
during the development process, cooperating, building
teams, gaining trust, empowering others, recognizing
the accomplishments of other people, applying the five
leadership qualities to accept challenges at work.

On 19 June 2021, the Group organized a tailored
training session on the prevention and control of key
risks along the whole value chain in the real estate
industry. The training session improved the risk control
awareness and practical skills of relevant practitioners
and ensured that a risk control system is duly
implemented in all departments and subsidiaries.

On 13 August 2021, the Group organized a training
session on ways to improve cross-departmental
communication and coordination, which covered
topics including the background of cross-departmental
communication and coordination, case analysis, and
fundamental thinking in relation to communication and
coordination. By ultimately learning about the common
obstacles of cross-departmental communication and
doing case studies, we improved the communication
and coordination skills of the participants.

On 16 October 2021, the Group organized a training
session on the system of the whole marketing
business and the logic of decision-making from the
general perspective of projects. By learning about
the key points of marketing, methods of marketing,
and different business scenarios, we did an in-depth
analysis on marketing knowledge in the three areas
of “real estate marketing awareness, the relationship
between projects and marketing, marketing system,
and critical decision points”, and improved the
marketing and operational thinking skills of our staff.
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During the Year, the number of trained employees
accounted for 59% of the total workforce, and the
average number of training hours for all employees
was 40. The tables below set out the average number
of training hours of the Group’s staff by employment

EAEEHE XlEREER
BT A#59%  #EEFHXE
F B AB40E - LT REE
RBERAEARNNE TFHEI
B BAO AT 8% - B AR M1 R 8

PANE

category and gender during the Reporting Period: 7

Percentage
Training and development statistics Unit 2021 2020 change
EIRERBE By 20214 2020F EHAOLHLE
Percentage of trained employees by gender
EMREsNZIREETIL
Male % 76% 59% +28.81%
ES
Female % 24% 41% -41.46%
ko8
Percentage of trained employees by

employment category

REBEREASNSIEERS L
Senior management % 8% 11% -27.27%
BREBEAB
Junior and middle management % 80% 17% +370.59%
R RERBAR
General staff % 12% 73% -83.56%
ERBE
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RIR - HERERHE

Training and development statistics Unit
EIRERBE B

Percentage
2021 2020 change
20214 2020F EHAOLHLE

Average training hours per employee by

gender
BiREL BEEETHEINTEYEY
Male hour
£ N
Female hour
Z INBE

Average training hours per employee by
employment category

RERERNED BEEETHBINFIRHY

Senior management hour
BREBAB N
Junior and middle management hour
R RERAR AN
General staff hour
EEBE N

During the year, the number of managerial personnel
and general staff members of the Group’s subsidiaries
being trained and related training hours both increased
significantly. The Group is committed to providing work
support to employees, and actively conducting training
to help employees achieve career development and
personal growth.
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42.96 6.20 +592.90%
34.78 3.00 +1,059.33%
54.87 4.04 +1,2568.17%
169.70 469  +3,5618.34%
19.56 5.06 +286.56%
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B4 LABOUR STANDARDS B4 ZT R

Recruiting talents

The Group adopts internal competition for certain
positions and prioritises the deployment or selection
of suitable qualified employees inside the Group. The

AT HE

SEEMO MU ETAREE
18 5 B & B 1A &F 38 BC 58
BEABEERMET - £FEIER

Group advocates employees to participate actively BEIXREREKERERE
pursuant to competition conditions and procedures, mSH RSB EHET

and encourages each department to support DERNIDHE TRER - &
employees to participate in internal competition without NEeERAAFERE  T9&
barriers. The Group would also apply open elections, B-RBRMBR FMBREEA
regardless of qualifications, sources and backgrounds, ERMVEERRBREERBERE -

all applicants must follow the Group’s recruitment
principles and pass the required inspections from all
aspects and our Group only recruits qualified applicant.
The Group takes the Company’s culture and value as
the basic recruitment criteria, and mainly focuses on
the adaptability and also takes into consideration the
future development potential.

The labour policies and standards of the Group strictly
conform to the “Labor Contract Law of the People's
Republic of China”, the “Labor Law of the People's
Republic of China”, and other applicable labour
laws and regulations. Related labour environment,
employment duration, working time, rest and vacation
and other rules all complied with laws and regulations.
Meanwhile, the Group clarified in labour contracts and
also kept employees informed about labour protection,
labour conditions and occupational hazard protection.
The Group also complied with the requirements of
national and local regulations and policies in aspects of
labour handling procedures, procedure completeness
and procedures thereof. The Group will closely monitor
the latest status of related governmental laws and
regulations and make corresponding adjustment and
update about its internal systems and procedures. At
the beginning of every year, the Group also conducts
analysis and evaluation on current systems and policies
and makes optimization and adjustment accordingly.
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Measures for Prevention of Child Labour or Forced
Labour

The Group has a zero-tolerance approach against
child labor and forced labor during our hiring process.
To prevent the use of child labour and forced
labour, the Group ensures that applicants have the
right to interview and apply for a job voluntarily.
Meanwhile, it sets up a strict approval procedure for
labour employment. Before employment, all sorts of
credentials, files and information should be complete
and shall undergo strict inspection. Employment should
also get approval from all levels of management so as
to effectively avoid child labour or other nonstandard
labour employment. The Group also complies with
equal and voluntary labour employment. When signing
contracts or agreements with employees, the Group will
completely and accurately convey necessary statutory
information such as labour working location, time,
salary and so on. Both parties sign labour contract
or agreement under the voluntary principle in order to
avoid forced labour.
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B5 SUPPLY-CHAIN MANAGEMENT B5 REHEE

The Group has in place a well-established supplier
management system, including a clear division
of supervisory function, supplier assessment and
approval, supplier selection and performance
evaluation, and supervise the supply-chain
management from various aspects. When selecting
suppliers, the Group would inspect their contract
performance, honesty, and legal compliance,
meanwhile incorporate proper appraisal so as to make
a comprehensive evaluation. Through contractual
agreements, the Group required that all the suppliers
must comply with national and local environmental
laws and regulations, including but not limited to the
“Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic
of China”, the “Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People's Republic of China”, the
“Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People's Republic of China”, and the “Solid Waste
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People's
Republic of China”. The Group properly evaluated our
suppliers to make sure that they complied with all the
environmental and social requirements and fulfilled
their environmental and social responsibilities. During
the Reporting Period, the total number of suppliers
engaged by Ever Reach and its selected subsidiaries
was 647, all of which were suppliers from Mainland
China and Hong Kong.
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B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Product Quality Management

The Group highly emphasises product quality
management and establishes a strict product quality
management system within the Group. Every quarter,
the Group carries out a third-party inspection to
make sure the quality of all products met standards.
The Group also attaches great importance to
provisions of the laws and regulations applicable to
our products, including the “Construction Law of
the People's Republic of China”, and continuously
pays close attention to and complies with them. The
construction materials that our Group uses are of
high quality, which satisfy the relevant requirements
in terms of construction and environmental protection
on one hand, and promote environmental-friendly and
power-saving construction on the other hand.

The Group also has a complete repair and maintenance
mechanism. Once product defects are found, the
Group would be responsible for repair at its own
costs, and would arrange delivery only upon the
completion of repair works. If customers suffer a
loss due to quality defects, or if there are still quality
problems that seriously affect the normal residential
use of the customer after various repeated repairs,
the Group would definitely follow up carefully and pay
compensation or arrange the return of the house if
appropriate. On the other hand, the Group also has
post-disaster response measures, upon encountering
natural disasters such as typhoons, earthquakes
and fires, the Group will conduct comprehensive
inspection towards buildings and public facilities,
including aluminum doors and windows, entry doors,
railings, curtain walls, public decoration, various water
& electricity systems and equipment, etc., as well as
carrying out repair or reinforcement works according
to the damage level. During the Reporting Period, no
property was subject to reposession after undergoing
the building inspection process, and no compliants
were received.
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Safeguarding and protecting intellectual property (IP)

As one of the leading brands in the Xuchang market,
we are committed to protecting our own IP while
complying with the IP policies of other companies. The
Group attaches great importance to the safeguarding
and protection of IP rights and is in compliance with the
relevant applicable laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the “Patent Law of the People's Republic
of China”. We have implemented a comprehensive
IPmanagement system to protect both internal and
external IP rights. We also have a contingency plan
in place to provide guidance and solutions for the
handling of any cases in relation to IP infringement.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not record
any material infringement of IP rights.

Protection of consumer data and privacy

The Group strictly complies with the “Personal
Information Protection Law of the People's Republic of
China” and handles personal information in a lawful,
legal and honest manner. Committed to fully complying
with the privacy policies in relation to its customers,
suppliers, and other related parties, the Group has
created a safe environment where we can store data
in our internal system using data protection measures,
where data can only be accessed by authorized
staff. To prevent any accidental or unauthorized
access, modification or use of data, the Group will not
disclose personal information of its staff, customers
and suppliers, without prior permission from relevant
parties. All business operations within the Group are
required to comply with our privacy policies and adopt
a zero-tolerance approach against non-compliant
behaviours. During the Reporting Period, the Group
did not record any significant breaches of consumer
information and privacy.
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B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group operates its business in accordance with
high ethical standards and adopts good practices in
the industry in respect of prevention of bribery and
anti-corruption. The Group has always been in strict
compliance with local and national laws such as the
“Criminal Law of the People's Republic of China”
and the “Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People's
Republic of China”, and other relevant anti-corruption
laws in Mainland China and other places. The
Group has in place the “Measures on Integrity and
Self-Discipline Regulation”, which provides guidelines
to employees on how to handle business transactions
with business-related entities and interest related
entities.

According to the guidelines, it is strictly forbidden to
provide any form of payment, gift or offer by means
of bribery or corruption. It is not allowed to abuse
the position to encroach on the Company’s property,
misappropriate public funds, and abuse power for
personal gain.

All employees and representatives of the Group are
required to operate our business and perform their
duties in accordance with the integrity requirements set
out in the “Measures on Integrity and Self-Discipline
Regulation” and in an ethical manner. However, the
Group did not organize any trainings on the “Measures
on Integrity and Self-Discipline Regulation” for its
staff. The Group understands the potential risks
brought by unethical practices to our business and
has zero-tolerance to any form of corruption (including
deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, conspiracy,
misappropriation of public funds and collusion). Any
suspected criminal activities, when found, are reported
to the relevant authorities immediately. During the
Year, the Group did not have any legal cases related to
corruption.
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B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT B8 HERE

Ever Reach always keeps in mind its social
responsibility as an enterprise when growing its
business. As an accountable and proactive member of
the community, the Group is fully committed to making
positive contributions to help the underprivileged and
those in need.

Ever Reach cooperates with different social
organizations and proactively contributes to community
and charity work. During the Reporting Period, Ever
Reach and its selected subsidiaries donated a total
amount of RMB5.29 million to different organizations,
including but not limited to:

Weidu Charity Federation

e Dongcheng District Charity Federation

e Jianan District Charity Federation

o Henan Province Charity Federation

e  Changge City Charity Federation

Meanwhile, the Group actively participated in education
and charity. We have been helping students for
many years. Ever Reach always believes that making
donation to education is a current philanthropy that can
benefit the society for generations. In the future, the
Group will continue to repay the society with a positive
attitude and fulfill its corporate social responsibility.
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Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic,
Ever Reach has strictly complied with the specific
requirements of the central government and
government authorities at all levels regarding epidemic
prevention and control. We proactively adopted relevant
measures, formulated contingency plans, distributed
epidemic prevention supplies, for we have made
epidemic prevention and control our first priority. As
a demonstration of our corporate social responsibility,
Ever Reach and its selected subsidiaries took practical
actions and donated a total of RMB542,500 to fight
against the epidemic.

To providing a helping hand to the post-disaster
recovery efforts in the affected areas and to support
the livelihoods of local people, Ever Reach and its
selected subsidiaries donated approximately RMB100
million to the flood relief project of Changge City
Charity Federation, and also donated materials
amounting to approximately RMB800,000 directly to
Changge, Yanling, and other affected areas during the
Reporting Period.

On the “99 Public Welfare Day”, the Group mobilized all
staff members, called on the staff of all departments,
party members, and property owners to take active
actions, and encouraged them to make donations.
Ever Reach and its selected subsidiaries donated
approximately RMB1.623 million in this event.

Tencent’s “99 Public Welfare Day” is an annual public
charity event jointly initiated by the Tencent Chartiy
Foundation and thousands of other charity groups in
China under the guidance of the Bureau of Internet
Social Work of the Cyberspace Administration of
China and the Social Welfare and Charity Promotion
Department of the Ministry of Civil Affairs of the PRC. It
aims to promote community-wide participation in pubic
welfare events, instill a sense of civic responsibility in
the society, help to eradicate poverty, improve people’s
livelihood, and improve education standards. The topic
of this year’s “99 Public Welfare Day” was “Charity
Work for Zhengzhou, Fill the Green City with Love”,
which aimed to provide assistance to the post-disaster
recovery and village revitalization efforts in Zhengzhou
to create a beautiful rural area. Thus far, Ever Reach
has made a fair share of contribution to the creation
of a harmonious society by donating approximately
RMB39.29 million to the community.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance
report in the Company’s Annual Report for the year ended 31
December 2021.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to achieving good corporate governance
standards.

The Board believes that good corporate governance standards
are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of shareholders, enhance corporate
value, formulate its business strategies and policies, and
enhance its transparency and accountability.

The Company has devised its own code of corporate governance
based on the principles and practices as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules which are applicable to the Company.

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 31
December 2021, the Company has complied with all applicable
code provisions.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and the
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
‘Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted
by the Company.

SREARE

ZEESMARIREARNDAE E2021F12 A
SIBEFEFRANADEE GRS -

ESEPINERRINEEERIRE -

EEEMHE RUNEXERTEDS
ARRRHEERARBERRERE =7
EEEE HERREBHRERBRIA
MmgEERAERBERE 2@ -

ARBCRIE LR B 8 + 0T Ek
XEATH(EXERTHDHIE
ARARBNRAEERGTEE S D
EERERTH -

FEERA RE =2021F12A318 1t
BEFE AQRABBTFLEEATE
Fr & /9 2 3638 A ST B XX »

HEXZBETA

RRABERMIZESTA -

KREREEEEHAREERAE  EFHE
R HENE E2021F12A318 | E
FE—HEBTZESE -

RARIRHL A BE TR B RN AR KRR M I (B
BRBEMNEBRFTERRREEITES
RXPpMEmES(BEEEEES)  EiF
RTBERZETR - KRB AANEH
ERRENETEEEMEESINBER

2021 Annual Report
—BRo—EER

101



102

Corporate Governance Report
L EERRE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which oversees
the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and takes decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Board should regularly review the contribution required from
a Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board of the Company currently comprises the following
Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xiaobing (Chairman)
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng

Ms. Qi Chunfeng

Mr. Wang Quan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun

Mr. Wei Jian

Mr. Fang Cheng

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 29 to 36 of this annual report.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held
by Mr. Li Xiaobing and Mr. Wang Zhenfeng respectively. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the effective
functioning and leadership of the Board. The Chief Executive
Officer focuses on the Company’s business development and
daily management and operations generally.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

Exg

ARAHERYNEETEEE -

BASENER BRERARLRA X
EBIELR AR AZEMNENARTE

EXgREHRNESRETEHEAR
BAIMEEIMEFELOER  UREER
BIREBERAERETES -

EEEEM

ARBEEZSHEAAATESTMAK:

HITEE
FNKEE(ERE)
FiRgEE
EERXZLT
THEE

BUHFHTEE
FEBEE
BREE
FIERE

i%%ﬁfﬁﬂ% B EARFRF29H
EENEENSMEEABZERE
—&f o

EEEXREN L cEBERE -
EFERAR

TRERBEBUDHETNKEERE
RELEERE TFAERE AHER
EEeMBAWERREE - BHE—KE
ARARBNEBRRIBEEERE
78 o



Corporate Governance Report

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three Independent Non-executive
Directors representing one-third of the Board with one of whom
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in respect
of his independence in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
is of the view that all Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of 3 years, subject to renewal after
the expiry of the then current term.

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or if their number is not three of a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The
retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company; and is collectively responsible for
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads
and provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.
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All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the information
of the Company and may, upon request, seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses for discharging their duties to the
Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other
offices held by them.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
taken against Directors and senior management arising out of
corporate activities.
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Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion of
his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the
business and operations of the Company and full awareness of
Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules
and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would
be arranged and reading material on relevant topics would
be provided to Directors where appropriate. All Directors are
encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the Company’s
expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, relevant reading
materials including legal and regulatory update have been
provided to the directors for their reference and studying.
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The record of continuous professional development relating
to director’'s duties and regulatory and business development
that have been received by the Directors for the year ended 31
December 2021 and up to date of this report are summarized as
follows:

HE2021F12A3BILFE EE 0 &
EEREETHEANEE RO EHK %
BROBEZERENZE  HEARS
HES - #hafian T -

Type of Training "ot
1% 3\ 8 Bl

Directors

=

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Li Xiaobing Nk A
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng FiRE % &
Ms. Qi Chunfeng BERZ L+
Mr. Wang Quan FrREE
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHHTEE
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun FEIB KL
Mr. Wei Jian Baltt
Mr. Fang Cheng FAEE A

Note:
Types of Training

A:  Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines
and relevant publications

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and
benefits to achieve diversity on the Board. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Board has adopted a board
diversity policy for the purpose of ensuring that the Board has
the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the
Board and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.
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The Nomination Committee of the Board has the primary
responsibility for identifying suitably qualified candidates to
become members of the Board based on various measurable
objectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, age, race,
language, cultural and educational background, industry and
professional experiences. All nominations and appointments of
the member of the Board will be made on merit basis taking into
account the business of the Company needs from time to time.

The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity
policy and the measurable objectives at least annually, and as
appropriate, to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board
in support of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted nomination policy which sets out
the objectives, selection in criteria and nomination procedures
for identifying and recommending candidates for appointment
or re-appointment of Directors in order to ensure that the Board
has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and
appropriate leadership at Board level. During the year ended 31
December 2021, no candidate was nominated for directorship.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established 4 committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee
and Legal Compliance Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Board committees are posted on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to
shareholders upon request.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of the three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Fang Cheng, Mr. Lee Kwok Lun
and Mr. Wei Jian. Mr. Lee Kwok Lun is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The
main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in
reviewing the financial information and reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems, effectiveness of
the internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of
external auditors, and arrangements to enable employees of
the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee
held three meetings to review the interim and annual financial
results and reports and significant issues on the financial
reporting, operational and compliance controls, the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal
audit function, appointment of external auditors and relevant
scope of works and, connected transactions and arrangements
for employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors three times
without the presence of the Executive Directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of the three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Fang Cheng, Mr. Lee Kwok
Lun and Mr. Wei Jian. Mr. Fang Cheng is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
of no less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all
Directors and senior management; and establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates
will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year to
consider the relevant matters regarding the remuneration policy
and the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management by band
are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members, namely
Mr. Li Xiaobing, Executive Director, Mr. Fang Cheng and Mr. Lee
Kwok Lun, independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Li Xiaobing
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the Board composition, developing and formulating
relevant procedures for the nomination and appointment of
Directors, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning of Directors, and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors.
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In assessing the Board composition, the Nomination Committee
would take into account various aspects as well as factors
concerning Board diversity as set out in the Company’s
Directors’ nomination procedures, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and industry and regional
experience etc. The Nomination Committee would discuss and
agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the
Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the Board for
adoption.

In identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would consider the candidate’s
character, qualifications, experience, independence, time
commitment and other relevant criteria necessary to complement
the corporate strategy and achieve Board diversity, where
appropriate, before making recommendation to the Board.

The Nomination Committee met once during the year to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board and the
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors, and
to consider the qualifications of the retiring directors standing
for election at the Annual General Meeting. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of the Board is maintained.

Legal Compliance Committee

The Legal Compliance Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Wang Zhenfeng, Executive Director, Mr. Fang Cheng
and Mr. Lee Kwok Lun, independent non-executive Directors. Mr.
Fang Cheng is the chairman of the Legal Compliance Committee.

The principal duties of the Legal Compliance Committee
include monitoring, identifying, reviewing and assessing the
key compliance issues in relation to or arisen in the course
of the Group’s business operations such as, among other
aspects, usage of all acquired parcels of land as well as
construction process and sales arrangements regarding property
development projects; and conducting regular review on the
compliance matters identified by the committee itself, senior
management members of the Group and/or other relevant
parties.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZR) GRLA

RABEZFENENK  REZBEEH
EZESETEARARBDEEREREFM
HEBEFEZ TIELOWRAE BEET
REMER - Fik XEREEER B
XER B MBARTEEMRER
F-REZECEIWRHEERES
SLZTLBRNAGERR XREF
ERMEEFSRHZIAMERSA -

IS4 BEMNEZTAER RS
Eﬁi%@%ﬁﬁ%mA%ﬁ&
EMmiE - BE - & By
%&W&ﬁ@ﬁﬁTﬁ ﬁ%%%&L
Z b (i A E) W BRI -

REZESEFRNBITT—REHE " MU
HEEFeMEE  AEREAKRARS
VEHTESENB LM WEETERME
BEENRRBFRESLBRENER - %
HLEEBEERE EECTHBTERS
by iE & F o

ERAEREES

FREGHREZBEEH=-ZZKEBHEN 75
EE%W%$@.§$)Eﬁ%$&
TEBAEUABIIRTES) -7
EEREREEARZBEEIR -

ERAKRZEGNIZREEREEE
HA kAR EREAEEREE
EBRETR(ERBRE) ME AR RS
ARk EERFREEYMEREEANHE
ERPMELENTIZAREE REHY
mNZEEEs AKESREEEMNX
BR/HEMBEATEINARER -



Corporate Governance Report

The Legal Compliance Committee held twelve meetings
during the year to monitor, identify, review and assess the key
compliance issues related to various aspects of the Group’s
operations.

Corporate Governance Functions

The functions set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code
are performed by the Audit Committee.

During the year, the Audit Committee met three to review the
Company’s corporate governance policies and practices,
training and continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the
compliance of the Model Code and Written Employee Guidelines,
and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this corporate governance report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS

The attendance record of each director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings and the general meetings of the Company
held during the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out in the
table below:
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HE/ BTEERY
Legal

Audit  Remuneration Nomination Compliance Annual General
Name of Director Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
ESpR Ezg ENZEES FHZESE REZEE® ERAKZEEE RREFAE
Mr. Li Xiaobing FINKEE 4/4 N/A T8 N/A 38 1/1 N/A R 48 R 1/1
Mr. Wang Zhenfeng ITRERE 4/4 N/A i B N/A T3 A N/A T3 A 12012 11
Ms. Qi Chunfeng EEETL 4/4 N/A 8 A N/A B N/A 8 B N/A 8 H 1/1
Mr. Wang Quan THEEE 4/4 N/A 8 A NA B N/A R E B N/A 8 B 11
Mr. Lee Kwok Lun FRBEE 4/4 3/3 11 111 1212 0
Mr. Wei Jian Rtk 4/4 313 11 N/A R & A N/A 8 A 0N
Mr. Fang Cheng pR 1%k 4/4 3/3 1/1 1/1 12012 11
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk
management and internal control systems and reviewing their
effectiveness. Such systems are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks that it is willing
to take in achieving the Company’s strategic objectives, and
establishing and maintaining appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the
management and overseeing their design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.

The Company has developed and adopted various risk
management procedures and guidelines with defined authority
for implementation by key business processes and office
functions, including project management, sales and leasing,
financial reporting, human resources and information technology.

The Company’s risk management and internal control systems
have been developed with the following principles, features and
processes and are reviewed by the Board on annual basis:

e the Board is responsible for and has general oversight of
the management and conduct of the business of the Group,
and is in charge of the overall risk control of the Group.
Any significant business decision involving material risks
are reviewed, analysed and approved at the Board level to
ensure a thorough examination of the associated risks at the
highest corporate governance body.
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the Board and senior management are in charge of overall
business operations and risk monitoring of the Group, and
are responsible for the supervision of the respective fields
of operations as well as the supervision and approval of
any material business decisions of the Group’s project
companies. Procedures and policies are established
setting out clear reporting lines and responsibilities with
a view to facilitating efficient communications among the
Board, regional headquarters and the project companies.
A standardized property development process that governs
each step of the property development activities was also
developed.

the Audit Committee is responsible for, among others,
maintaining a satisfactory control environment and
an effective system of internal control (including any
arrangements for internal audit) and to review the Group’s
financial information, by monitoring the integrity of the
Group’s financial statements and annual report and
accounts and half-year report and to review significant
financial reporting judgements contained in them.

the Group’s city and site selection decisions are made by
the Board. The project management department at Henan
regional headquarters is in charge of formulating feasibility
studies for development plans and investment strategies,
which takes into account and involves the participation
of other departments, including the finance department,
engineering management department and costs control
department.

for certain operational and market risks, control measures
are adopted at an operational level. For example, major
construction risks are minimised by reviewing background
information on general construction contractors before their
appointment and imposing strict contractual requirements,
while adhering to regular quality control measures overseen
by the Group and third-party construction supervision
companies.
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the Company has adopted various internal policies and
procedures for individual employees in respect of different
aspects of the property development process based on
the operational needs. The Company also provides both in-
house and external training to the employees in order to
enhance their industry knowledge to manage the operational
risks.

the Company has established anti-fraud and corruption
policy and whistle blowing policy. The policies have listed
out the guideline, activities considered as fraud and
corruption and whistle blowing mechanism for internal staff.
The reporting channel is posted on the Company’s website
for external parties’ reporting. The complaints or report can
be filed through postage or email.

the Company has also established the policies of financial
reporting and month end financial closing which list out the
guideline on preparing the monthly financial pack, the duties
of different departments, and the procedures of reviewing
and submission of the financial related documents. The
policies also listed out the segregation of duties of the
financial record preparation within the finance department,
reporting channel within the Group and the monthly financial
closing and monitoring procedures. The finance department
of the subsidiaries is responsible for preparing the financial
record on a day-to-day basis and perform monthly financial
closing based on the monthly financial closing checklist. The
monthly financial pack including the financial statements,
cash flow forecast and the key supporting schedule are
reviewed by the finance manager of each subsidiary before
submitting to the Group’s finance department for final
review. The Group’s finance department further reviews and
approves the financial pack received from the subsidiaries
before submission to the Executive Directors for review. The
Board would further discuss the financial performance on a
monthly basis.
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The Company has engaged independent consultant to perform
the internal audit function for the Group. The independent
consultant has conducted its internal audit review activities
according to the internal audit plan during the year. The
Board, as supported by the Audit Committee, the independent
consultant as well as the management report, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the year ended 31
December 2021, and considered that such systems are effective
and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides
a general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior
management and relevant employees in handling confidential
information, monitoring information disclosure and responding to
enquiries.

Control procedures have been implemented to ensure that
unauthorised access and use of inside information are strictly
prohibited.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
independent auditor’s report on pages 119 to 130.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditor of the
Company, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit
services for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
RMB2,280,000.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Leung Kam Fai
Anthony, who is an employee of the Company and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affair. During the year ended
31 December 2021, he has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in accordance with rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, separate
resolution should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Extraordinary general meetings may be convened on requisition
of one or more shareholders holding, at the date of requisition,
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition
should be made in writing to the Board or the Company
Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting should
be held within 2 months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands
Companies Acts or the Articles of Association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders
may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company will
not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address: Room 1409, Floor 14, Leighton Centre, 77 Leighton
Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Board of Directors/
Company Secretary)

Email: enquiry@everreachgrp.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice or
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address
and provide their full name, contact details and identification in
order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be
disclosed as required by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS/INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance and
strategies. For this purpose, the Company has set up a website
(www.everreachgroup.com), where relevant latest information,
the up-to-date state of the Company’s business operation and
development, the Company’s financial information and corporate
governance practices and other data are available to the public.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings
and other general meetings. At the annual general meeting,
directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available to meet
shareholders and answer their enquiries.
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During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. An up to date version of
the Company’s Articles of Association is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a shareholders’ communication
policy to ensure that shareholders’ views and concerns are
appropriately addressed. The policy is regularly reviewed to
ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a policy on payment of dividends
pursuant to code provision F.1.1 of the CG Code which sets
out the factors in consideration of the payment of dividend.
The Board endeavours to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management
with a sustainable dividend policy and will continually review the
same and make modification when appropriate.
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To the Shareholders of

Independent Auditor’s Report
8 M A% B A R

BEZEE(ER)ARLF

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited EHERBRE

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RESHEFTMETHERL )

OPINION =R

What we have audited RS ETNIEER

The consolidated financial statements of Ever Reach Group BEEEZER)ERAR(ERR] &

(Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries BAENBARGEIESEE] S K F131

(the “Group”), which are set out on pages 131 to 293, comprise: Z203EMEE M HREK EBHE:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 o JA2021FE12A31E W42 & B 75 R
December 2021; =

e the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then e REEZALFEMHZEEE=ZE:
ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for e REZZALFEMHZREZENK =
the year then ended; =

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year e NREEZEZALFENGEAE=RZED
then ended:; e

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then e REZZALFEMNHZRARESR=E
ended; and = &

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which s REUBHmERME HBEEXTXRE®
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory SRR R EMBREER -
information.
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Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

1 Recognition of revenue from sales of properties; and

2 Assessment of net realisable value of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter?

B E T E A

Recognition of revenue from sales of properties

BRBMEHERSUA

Refer to Note 4 ‘Critical accounting estimates and
judgements’ and Note 24 ‘Revenue’ to the consolidated
financial statements.

F2HRE VB MR T4EZE G 54 51 & A B &M
FE24 T A ] e

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised over
time when the Group’s performance under a sales
contract does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date; otherwise,
the revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
buyer obtains control of the completed property. For the
year ended 31 December 2021, revenue of the Group
from sales of properties was RMB2,753.4 million, which
was recognised at a point in time.

MEHEMBRAR BEXRERNHEEARE TNED
AElEY BEEEAEERERAMEE W E£EF

3B ATIEUER =5 B A4 30 0 B FIE B BE B R R AR
BAWATEERIREE TR HI AL — IR o
HE2021F12A31HILLFE - BEEEVEHEENEFK
A& AR #2 753,400,000 ' 2R E— R EHFER o

We focus on revenue from sales of properties
recognised at a point in time because of the significant
volume of transactions which requires significant
audit time and effort. The Group recognises revenue
when effective control of ownership is transferred to
the buyers, which is dependent on the contractual
arrangements for the sale and the laws and regulations
in the relevant jurisdiction.
HREARGEFTEASEFFRERIE  BHMAE
RE-—KHMHERNMEHEKA BEKEEMA
EHNEREHEEREERRERKA - SEURRKH
ENARRHREBRDEERAERER -
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BEETERA)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEMNETNNEEFARESEH

Our procedures in relation to identifying sales
contracts which are subject to revenue recognised
over time include understanding management’s
process in identifying sales contracts with or
without enforceable right to payment, and reading
the key terms of sales contracts, on a sample
basis, to assess the presence of enforceable right
to payment based on the contract terms.
HPMEMBERREREERRANHESRNE
FRETHRERBEIZNHEAREEAHHITE
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MEREE)URE S FRRFHEEFERERKIA
B 58 I ER 1T HE o




Independent Auditor’s Report
8 M A% B A R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) FRESSEHA)
Key Audit Matter? How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEEEE BMWEFNTEEEEETEE
Recognition of revenue from sales of properties Our procedures in relation to revenue from sale of
(Continued) properties recognised at a point in time include:
BRYEEEMSBA(E) BOEERNE —SHERYEHERANE T B -

e Understood, evaluated and tested the key
internal controls over the recognition of
revenue from sale of properties at a point in
time.

o THR -HERARAANK —MERY X
5 P15 WA 75 T RO B8 52 N BF 4% ) o

e Selected sales transactions of properties
recognised at a point in time, on a sample
basis, and performed the following
procedures:

s BRREREEANVEHER S (RHEK
BEE) WERATIIREF:

a) Read the signed sales and purchase
agreements to evaluate contractual
arrangements relating to effective transfer
of control.

a) HMECEENEEMAUTEEBANR
THIEEBNERZH -

b) Checked the transfer of effective control
of ownership to relevant documents,
including completion certificates,
occupation permits or customer
acceptance.

by MEMAENERERIEEBRNEBX
HBREAIZEE FEFAIEREFLR
W E) o

c) Agreed the sales amount of transactions
to the amount set out in the signed sales
and purchase agreements and bank
statements.

) RBRXINHELHEELEZZEEM =
FrEi e RIRITEHRE - -

Based on our audit procedures, we found that
transactions tested were supportable by the
evidence we obtained.

BEEMINESER  KMBRAAANKZZA
BB MESHBERENZR -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter2

HEETERE?

REESHA)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNESOAEEEEETSIE

Assessment of net realisable value of properties Our procedures in relation to management’s NRV
under development and completed properties held assessment on PUD and PHS include:

for sale

AERABPYERFFHERTIYENTERFE

Refer to Note 4 ‘Critical accounting estimates and
judgements’ and Note 11 ‘Properties held or under
development for sale’ to the consolidated financial
statements.

E2HRE VB MR T4EZE g 54 5T & A B &M
AN ELEXRARPFEEME] -

The properties under development (“PUD”) and
completed properties held for sale (‘PHS”) of the Group
amounted to RMB7,373.4 million and RMB1,541.8
million respectively as at 31 December 2021, which
are significant to the Group’s total assets. The carrying
amounts of PUD and PHS are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value (“NRV”).
R2021F12A318 © EXERETME(RBERYED
RFELERIME(HELERTIYEDNEED B
& AN R #7,373,400,0007T & A R #1,541,800,0007T °
1 EEEREENKRKEY HREFAYELRFELE
BT ERAREEE UK ARSI FE (PR FE])
RHREEFTE ©

Determination of NRV of PUD and PHS involved critical
accounting estimates on the selling price, variable
selling expenses and, for PUD, the estimated costs
to completion. Given the significant balance of PUD
and PHS and the involvement of critical accounting
estimates, the assessment of NRV of these properties is
considered a key audit matter.
ETRETMERFELELRTIDENERFED
REEHHEER FEHEHEER ULKRERYE
WA RIRAELENE RNt - EXFERY
EEFBELERTIVENRBEER LS REKRES
et BMRARATEZEYENAER FER —HH
BETEE -

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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BMNABEREEHRETNERFELRERTY
EMAERFENFENRFERE:

Obtained an understanding of the
management’s internal control and
assessment process of the NRV assessment
on PUD and PHS, and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and
subjectivity.
THREEBUFEDTDERFELERIY
F R E IR FERRT AN B LR R
NEREBERHATEEE R ETHENIRE
AR R E AR -

Obtained the management’s calculation
schedules on provision for PUD and PHS,
and tested the completeness of development
projects and the mathematical accuracy of the
schedules.
EEEEEBHRAZETMERFELHELRLIY
¥ EBENGEXR TARFABREENT
ITRERGFERNERIE -

Tested management’s key estimates, on a
sample basis, for:
BAHAEEENAREG (RMEEE) AR

a) Selling price which is estimated based
on the prevailing market conditions and
ageing profile of PHS. We compared
the estimated selling price to recently
transacted prices by making reference to
the Group’s selling price in the same or
similar projects or the prevailing market
price of comparable properties with
similar type, size and location.

a) ERBITHARFELERIVENR
B LR fh ET H S B AR o IS E
EERELATFIERETER T2
Z EEEMERIEUEENERE R
PEE -  FHERUEMNAI LY ENIRT
MIHER -



Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) FRESSEHA)
Key Audit Matter2 How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BEEFEE? BMWEFNTEEEEETEE
Assessment of net realisable value of properties b) Variable selling expenses which
under development and completed properties held are estimated based on certain
for sale (Continued) percentage of selling price. We
AEERPYERBEHERIYEN TS E FE(E) compared this estimated percentage

with the actual average selling
expenses to revenue ratio of the
Group in recent years.

by AIEEEBERANEGIHEBEN —
JE Lb R EIT AT o B & (5T
hxE SEEEAFRNERTH
HEBERGR AN EEITHR -

c) Estimated costs to completion for
PUD. We compared the estimated
costs to completion to the budget
approved by management and
examined the construction contracts
or compared the anticipated
completion costs to the actual
costs of similar type of completed
properties of the Group.

c) MEPMWENMERIKAR - HM
%ﬁﬁﬁl&$ﬁ%@?ﬁ&mﬁ
HHEITHLE WK EL%AH 9
%ﬁ?&l&$ﬁ SERHEE
E@I%%%E%&Kﬁﬁi@°

e Compared the NRV assessment and provision
for impairment provided in prior years, on
a sample basis, with the subsequent actual
written-off and investigated if any significant
variance exists, to assess, historical estimation
accuracy for NRV assessment and impairment
made by management.

o WAEBRFENEREFITIRAMERME (R
MERER)EBRETERMELR A HF
ENERMERAEZRETHASE  UTBREEE
FT VB AT 8 3R 73 (8 5T 14 T2 Rt (B8 B s 00 B & 18 5F
B ZERE L o

Based on our audit procedure, we found the key
estimates used in the assessment of NRV of PUD
and PHS were supportable by the evidence we
obtained.

BEEMOBFAET  HMBERBRTMEEREHR
MERFELERTYENAIE IR FENME GG
AN EERMERSNERN R -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the Company’s 2021 Annual Report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

Ht &

BERAEFAHHEMENEBER - HiWE
BeEE BEARIFFHRAMEIEMNE S
BR(BETBEREFEVBREREMHLL
HEAMZEEMIERS) o

BMREGEEMBERROBELMREER
MmEFR AT EHAFHEBEMNER
ERFANEESER

BARMBEAMBHRENES - R
METEHEEMER  LEUBRES
EERHEMENEDRGRE M B HRRIRK
MERABRTFMTHENBAFEERK
BEEREUFFEERERRANER -

EREMAMITHIE  WREMRBEA
HEMFEEABERRL RMHFTE
EREE - -RMEE T HRAEEMNT

)
E2
EHE o

ESNERZEENGSMBERE
ARENEE

BERREFAAERRBEEBEHNAE
MHNEBMBREEL RE QA MK
PIMBEESAERREEMTBENES Y
BHE THER/RESEMHRE
B AR B¢ 17 12 £ 170 RRF K 8 RR T 48 B
ERBEREBMAMFBOAMENESE -



Independent Auditor’s Report

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

B RBENRE

ESNERZEENGSMBERE
ARENEE(E)

ERUEGAVBERE EFEEF
i BERERELENGEN YEER
BATHRBEESELEERNER " A
RERBELKLERGTER KIEES
BER BESEHBFREIEFELEE S5
BHMBERMNERTR -

B ED BT AR AR B B Rk PR
MEE

BMWER RYSAMBHREABESR
B FEARKFXRERMEBNERKX
HRRAMSAERSE  LHABRER
MEAMNZHMEE - HMAER BT
(EABRB)RERMNERL Rtz
A EREEAMEH o RIS AR
TOARAEMEMALTE ERAEE
MEME - A BREBEZRSKTHRE - B
THRERBABFENETHER
EX-—ERBERRAGFERAREER -
B AR B AT A R AR FF Sk BE AR B AR - IR
EEBHEMEBNERERATETE
HAEMBHRRERERBRETEAWH
BRELWEERE  ABRBANERK
AR RIEE K »
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

BB E AR S B S R A AR
MEE (&)

ERBE BB ENETETHBIEF -
BMERTEXZHE  RETEXRESR
REE - I

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

B RBENRE

BB R E AR S S R A AR
MEE (&)

e HEFERARKBLLSTEMNG
EMEL AR MBREMERNE
AARE BMERTFERSTHEARE
MBBONEATEEME - M Al s
BYHEKRENKELERENEL
EXRRE MREMB/FEEERX
THEEN  AAVEEZBEN RS
TREEREIEFEAMBEERT
MBABRE ABREFENEED
B RARMEEERFEREER
BRMWEREERN R RMREA L
ISR BREEL - A K
RKEBEXBAATELES SE£EBT
BEREKE -

s FHEREGMBHBERNEBEIN®AA
RBENAR BREEE UKES
MBBEREETERREBERZ M
FH-

e B ERERNERBXXHEIOY
BEHNERRTE  BENEER
NEHGEVBRRERER - &
MEEREEFNTR EEMH
7 RARBIHERARZHEE -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Leung Kwok Wai, Jimmy.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 30 March 2022

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

BB E AR S B S R A AR
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BN R

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

1 it AR¥E T ARET T

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y2 - BB R &E 6 41,978 45,768
Right-of-use assets FREEE 6(b) 19,721 22,852
Investment properties HEY 8 124,680 94,050
Intangible assets mEEE 7 14,553 —
Deferred tax assets RIEN IR & B 23 158,248 142,138
An investment accounted for using AR REFI BRI IR E
the equity method 9 - 20,042
Total non-current assets IEMBEELE 359,180 324,850
Current assets REEE
Prepayments for leasehold land MHE T BN FRIB 10 80,490 192,758
Properties held or under BIEHEXRERSFE
development for sale ) % 11 8,915,148 6,961,071
Trade and other receivables and B 5 & H Wk IE A TR
prepayments HIE 12 399,757 275,865
Prepaid income taxes SR 104,697 74,615
Contract assets AREE 6,234 5,769
Financial assets at fair value EAFEBBERTARD
through profit or loss TEEE 13 6,155 133
Restricted cash ZREHR & 14(b) 146,836 119,002
Cash and cash equivalents REeERREEEY 14(a) 281,489 554,504
Total current assets mBEERE 9,940,806 8,183,717
Total assets wmEE 10,299,986 8,508,567

2021 A | Report
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e M BARR R

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
K it AR¥FT ARMTF T
EQUITY =
Share capital LN 15 10,645 10,645
Share premium 1% 0w (B 15 299,188 299,188
Retained earnings REB AR 16 1,252,647 1,022,188
Other reserves H it 17 184,392 167,938
Equity attributable to owners of the ~ ANA TG A FE(L#E 25
Company 1,746,872 1,499,959
Non-controlling interests FE 2 I = 40 98,588 30,131
Total equity 48R 2 1,845,460 1,530,090
LIABILITIES af&
Non-current liabilities ERBEAE
Bank borrowings RITIE K 18 156,200 29,000
Other long-term borrowings Hih RHE X 20 248,000 212,377
Deferred tax liabilities BLERIEAE 23 18,877 16,699
Lease liabilities HEaE 6(b) 16,191 18,336
Total non-current liabilities EmB) B E R 439,268 276,412

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BN R

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

1 it AR¥E T ARET T

Current liabilities BB &
Bank borrowings RITE K 18 107,800 110,000
Other current borrowings Ho4th BD HA 5 =K 19 56,580 64,640
Current portion of other long-term H fib &= B & 5K A9 BN B &6
borrowings 20 124,377 136,000
Contract liabilities ERAE 21 5,212,558 3,877,453
Trade and other payables Z 5 & EAth BT R IE 22 2,064,502 2,081,117
Current income tax liabilities RV ER PR 15 T B t& 444,724 426,729
Lease liabilities HEAE 6(b) 4,717 6,126
Total current liabilities mE B A 8,015,258 6,702,065
Total liabilities waE 8,454,526 6,978,477
Total equity and liabilities BEZNEE 10,299,986 8,508,567

The consolidated financial statements on page 131 to 293 were
approved by the board of directors on 30 March 2022 and the
consolidated statement of financial position was signed on its
behalf by:

Li Xiaobing
Z= Nk
Director

EZ

The above consolidated statement of financial position should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements.

13122938 K 4 & B 75 ¥ 3k B 722022
F3AAKARREEZSHE  BEE
HEMRAREBETIALTRERZEE:

Wang Zhenfeng
iR
Director

EZE

bR A B RO 5 SR B £ A B
7R — 100 -
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31BLLEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥ T ARMTF T
Revenue A 24 2,767,678 2,422,051
Cost of sales H & B AR 26 (1,916,191) (1,643,090)
Gross profit EF 851,487 778,961
Fair value gains/(losses) on KEMENRAFE
investment properties U2k /(B 18) 8 8,050 (3,811)
Selling and marketing expenses HERMBHERERZ 26 (139,620) (101,981)
Administrative expenses THRAX 26 (162,207) (132,132)
Net impairment losses on financial % gl & & 5 B &5 18 )F 58
assets 26 (2,100) (694)
Other income H g A 4,092 1,096
Other losses — net HEE — F58 25 (20,052) (20,627)
Operating profit K& E 539,650 520,812
Finance income B %5 W A 27 1,566 1,414
Finance costs B 755 Bk 7R 27 (1,237) (10,876)
Finance income /(costs) — net BEWA(RE) — FH 329 (9,462)
Profit before income tax kR B 158 Bt Al F E 539,979 511,350
Income tax expense Fr 1S BB 2 30 (236,810) (228,759)
Profit for the year F R F E 303,169 282,591

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited

BEEE (ZR) ARAR



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
k=3 AR¥FrT ARETFr
Attributable to: T BT
Owners of the Company 2NN BN 306,913 284,011
Non-controlling interests FE 1R A% = (3,744) (1,420)
303,169 282,591
Earnings per share attributable ZAXATEEAEBEEREF
to the owners of the Company (LAR®RR)
(expressed in RMB)
— Basic and diluted earnings per — BREAREETRT
share &l 0.26 0.24

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the

consolidated financial statements.

LR RS R EEBEN A M ®RE
B SE— GFBIRE -
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEETHEWE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARMTF T
Profit for the year F AR E 303,169 282,591
Other comprehensive income Ht 2 E KA - —
Total comprehensive income for the year, FRZ2HEU A B ZE (HIBRFE)
net of tax 303,169 282,591
Attributable to: T 5 &7 FEAG
Owners of the Company KRAREAR A 306,913 284,011
Non-controlling interests I 2 B #E = (3,744) (1,420)
303,169 282,591

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to

the consolidated financial statements.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meERSER

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAEAAER
Non-
Share Share  Retained Other controlling Total
capital  premium  earnings  reserves  Sub-fofal interests equity

BE  BhEE  REEN  AtER P kRhES 28
Notss  RMBU0O  RMBDOO  AMBUGD  RMBU0O  RMBD0O  AUBDRD  AMBUOD
Wit NEETT ARBTL ARETT ARETT ARETL ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2020 R202061A1A 10,645 299,188 752,291 163,824 1,215,948 17,951 1,233,499
Comprehensive income 2EHRA

Profit for the year ERFIE = = 284,011 = 284,011 (14200 282,591
Transactions with owners REBANR A

Appropriation to statutory reserves ERZEERE 17 - - (14114 14114 - - -

Capital contributions from non-controling  JF¥ R R R £ &

shareholders = = = = = 14,000 14,000
Total transactions with owners REARGAE - - (14,114) 14,114 - 14,000 14,000
At 31 December 2020 #2020512431H 10,645 209,188 1,022,188 167,938 1,499,959 30,181 1,530,090

2021 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meERBER

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREARE

Non-
Share Share  Retained Other controlling Total
capital  premium  earnings  reserves  Sub-total interests equity
kA BRHEE RERF HA4RG Nt FEREE  AER
Notes  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
Wit ABETT ARETT AREFT AREFL ARETZ ARETR ARETZ

At 1 January 2021 R2021E1 1R 10,645 299,188 1,022,188 167,938 1,499,959 30,131 1,530,090
Comprehensive income 2ERA
Profit for the year ERFIE - - 306,913 - 306,913 (3,744) 303,169
Transactions with owners HEFANR
2021 final dvidend WAEFERE - - (60,000) - (60,000) - (60000)
Appropriation to statutory reserves ERZETRE 17 - - (16454) 16454 - - -
Acquisition of subsidiary YR B AR % - - - - - 72,151 72,151
Capital contributions from non-controlling ~ FE#2 R 5% )£ &

shareholders - - - - - 50 50
Total transactions with owners BEARGAE - - (76,454) 16,454 (60,0000 72,201 12,201
At 31 December 2021 R2021E1231H 10,645 299,188 1,252,647 184,392 1,746,872 98,588 1,845,460
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should Ftiis A ST RIEEENN S T
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the mMENTE— G RE -

consolidated financial statements.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

:nv_\éiﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ%

Year ended 31 December

B ZE12A31BLLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB 000
AR¥Fr ARMF T
Cash flows from operating activities RETEMBEERE
Net cash generated from operations EBEARS FE
(Note 33(a)) (#1 7#33(a) 155,239 1,180,463
Interest paid B F B (63,059) (47,865)
PRC income tax paid B R B P A B (185,270) (155,786)
PRC land appreciation tax paid B A B -t S (A B (77,559) (79,226)
Net cash (used in)/generated from RESER (TR EEXER€
operating activities FE (170,649) 897,586
Cash flows from investing activities RETBHFEBESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEDWE BELXE (5,362) (12,494)
Increase in investment properties & W) 8N - (1,161)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BEERATEEBEZAR
through profit or loss WEemEE (6,000) —
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEWE  BERREFRS
equipment (Note 33(b)) TXIE (B #33(b)) 81 17
Temporary funding provided to third parties ME=ZHiREREE S (631,500) (23,817)
Repayments received from third parties B = 5 WA E K 398,190 20,010
Return of prepayment for leasehold land EERE L HIEMAHE 137,500 —
Acquisition of equity interests Wt B R (148,847) (84,900)
Investment in an associate & E & QT - (18,042)
Interest received B U F B 1,566 1,414
Restricted cash deposits 2RI &7 R (27,834) (3,262)
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFARESFHE (282,206) (122,235)

2021 Annual Report
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARETFr
Cash flows from financing activities RMETEMSRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIE K PTIE KA 348,000 139,000
Repayments of bank borrowings EEBRITIERK (223,000) (291,000)
Proceeds from borrowings from non-financial 28 & 3F & &l # # & 5 8 Fr 15
institutions A 160,000 —
Repayments of borrowings from non-financial & i 3F & &b # 1 & &
institutions (136,000) (426,723)
Temporary funding received from related KB T R A S
parties (Note 37(b)(i)) (K1 7£37(6)(i)) 150,294 222,002
Repayments to a related party (Note 37(b)(ii) 71 B8 Bt 77 i 3R (A7 a2 37(b)(ii) (134,468) (219,090)
Temporary funding from third parties KEEZFHBREES 176,690 190,500
Repayments to third parties ME=HEX (96,140) (109,627)
Temporary funding received from minority RELERENERE 2
shareholders 81,018 25,910
Repayments to minority shareholders M > BAR BR 8 K (80,300) —
Capital injection from non-controlling JEERAR R IEE
shareholders 50 8,000
Payments of lease liabilities TRHEEERE (6,304) (4,976)
Dividends paid to owners of the Company ENARRHEEARS (60,000) —
Net cash generated from/(used in) BEEERSE (FrA)
financing activities RE&RE 179,840 (466,004)
Net (decrease)/increase in cashandcash BHE&EREELZEEY
equivalents R &), /18 inE & (2783,015) 309,347
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year £ #1IR & &I & ZE Y 554,504 245,157
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year EXEEREAELZEY
(Note 14) (Bt 214) 281,489 554,504

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read
in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the consolidated

financial statements.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited (Cayman
Islands Company Number: 313570, the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 22 July 2016 as an
exempted company with limited liability. The address of its
registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property development
business in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 12 November 2018 (the “Listing”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of Renminbi (RMB’000), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation

(i)

(i)

Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs) and
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“HKCO”)

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and
disclosure requirements of the HKCO (Cap. 622).

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
followings:

e financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss — measured at fair value through profit
or loss, and

° investment properties — measured at fair

value

The preparation of consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs which
require the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements
are disclosed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

21 EREXE(H)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) AT E

(iii) Going concern

Cash and cash equivalents balance of the Group
reduced from RMB554.5 million at 31 December
2020 to RMB281.5 million at 31 December 2021.
The Group has been experiencing certain slowing
down of the local property market since the
second half of 2021 in general which could further
reduce pre-sales volume and collection of pre-sale
proceeds. Above situations might impose liquidity
pressure on the Group.

In view of such circumstances, the directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and performance of the Group and its available
sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient financial sources to
continue as a going concern, and continue to take
the following measures to maintain sufficient cash
to meet its operation needs and commitments in
respect of property projects:

()  The Group will continue to actively adjust
sales and pre-sale activities to better respond
to market needs, make efforts to achieve
the latest budgeted sales and pre-sales
volumes and amounts, and timely monitor the
collection of sales and pre-sales proceeds;

(i) The Group will maintain continuous
communication and agree with major
constructors and suppliers to arrange
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iii) Going concern (continued)

(i) The Group will continue to actively
communicate with relevant banks and other
financial institutions so that the Group can
timely secure necessary project development
loans for qualified project development; and

(iv) The Group will monitor the timely collection of
the temporary funding receivables from third
parties, and in the meantime, continuously
cooperate with the related party and
non-controlling shareholder of the project
companies to provide funding support to
ensure the development and sales of all
existing projects as budgeted without material
interruptions.

Management has prepared the Group’s cash
flow forecast which covers a period of at least 12
months from 31 December 2021. The cash flow
forecast has taken into accounts the anticipated
cash flows generated from the Group’s operations,
scheduled repayment of borrowings, obtaining of
new borrowings, collection of temporary funding
from third parties, and obtaining necessary
funding support from the related parties and
non-controlling shareholders of project companies.

The directors, after making due enquiries and
considering the basis of Group’s cash flow
forecast and continuous measures described
above, believe that the Group will be able to
generate sufficient funds to finance its operations
and to meet its financial obligations when they fall
due within the next 12 months from 31 December
2021. Accordingly, the directors are satisfied that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) New standard and amendments of HKFRSs

)

effective in 2021

The Group has applied the following new standard
and amendments for the first time for its annual
reporting period commencing 1 January 2021:

° Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase
2 — amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

New standard, amendments or
interpretations of HKFRSs not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments
to accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory for
31 December 2021 reporting period and have
not been early adopted by the Group. These
standards, amendments or interpretations are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity
in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity
of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, statement
of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of financial position
respectively.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2 EXEEREBMEA)

2.2 MtELATE(4E)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1Consolidation (continued) 221% 5K H (&)

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity method of accounting, after
initially being recognised at cost. Under the
equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter
to recognise the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit
or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in
other comprehensive income of the investee in
other comprehensive income.
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(a) Business combinations @@ HBFEEU
The Group applies the acquisition method REBRERE R
to account for business combinations. The AU BE SR A BR o W B8
consideration transferred for the acquisition NGNS = KW
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the BIEMEENEE -
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to HEWESTREEA
the former owners of the acquiree and the FMEAMNBERAS

equity interests issued by the Group, the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from

= AT 3T R
B AXRAKELH

a contingent consideration arrangement, EENERNEEREA
and fair value of any pre-existing equity BEHORAFE ' AER
investment in the subsidiary. Identifiable MEARMNEMRMER
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent fRA & EW R FEE

liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)
2.2.1Consolidation (continued)

(a) Business combinations (continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are
measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in
stages, the acquisition date carrying value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value
at the acquisition date; any gains or losses
arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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e PR RME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 MtELATE(4E)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1Consolidation (continued) 221% 5K H (&)
(a) Business combinations (continued) @@ ZHFEEHE)
Any contingent consideration to be REEHTEENT
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair Ak ARERUER
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent AT ERR - #
changes to the fair value of the contingent RIEBEEXBEN X
consideration that is deemed to be an asset AREBERAFENHE

or liability is recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest

BRBENIANKRE
VTEEHTE M
BEEREEPAR °

PR EaE wkB
73 B9 AT fa] 3F #2 AR 4 =8

in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair & %8 & 1 7] %5 B A 4
value of any previously held equity interest W B8 75 KRR R Wk BB B
in the acquiree over the fair value of the BN S {E B 8 BT UK B

net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase,
the difference is recognised directly in the
statement of profit or loss.
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e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1Consolidation (continued)

(b) Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries

(]

without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share
acquired of the carrying amount of net assets
of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains
or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is re-measured
to its fair value at the date when control is
lost, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value
becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture
or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. It means
the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specifically permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). Since the majority of the assets and
operations of the Group are located in the PRC,
the financial information is presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), which is the functional currency of the
Company and the presentation currency of the
Group.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, within “Finance income or expenses”.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss within “Other gains/(loss) — net”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

() assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position are translated at the closing
rate;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rate; and

(i) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”). The
CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as executive directors that makes
strategic decisions.
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e PR RME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 2.5 ¥ - MERRE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged to the statement of profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

MR- BB KR ERE LKA
MBAFERBREBEBRAR -
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BRENRAX -
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SmRATERANEE - ARZ
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— Motor vehicles 4 years — "= 44F
— Furniture, fittings and 5 years — KA HE 5HF
equipment B

— Electronic devices 3-5 years —BEFHEE 3-5%

— Buildings 20 years —BF 20%F

— Leasehold improvements the shorter of lease —HEEE 8 AA =k AT 5 AR
terms or useful FHI (AR
lives RERYE)

The assets’ residual value and useful life are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are
recognised as “Other gains/(losses) — net” in the
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

mE

B 5 R R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

2.7

Intangible assets

Separately acquired licenses are shown at historical
cost. Licences acquired in a business combination are
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They
have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses.

Licenses is amortised using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs over their estimated useful lives, as
follows:

— Licenses 20 years

Properties held or under development for sale

Properties held or under development for sale are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Development cost of properties comprises cost of
land use rights (including land auction price, other
demolition cost to acquire land and resettlement
housing construction costs after deducting related
government grants), construction costs and borrowing
costs incurred during the construction period. Upon
completion, the properties under development are
transferred to properties held for sale.

Net realisable value takes into account the price
ultimately expected to be realised, less applicable
variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to
completion.

Properties held or under development for sale are
classified as current assets unless the construction
period of the relevant property development project is
expected to complete beyond normal operating cycle.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 Investment properties

2.8 REMWHE

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold
land and buildings, is held for long-term rental yields
or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not
occupied by the Group. It also includes properties
that are being constructed or developed for future use
as investment properties. Land held under operating
leases are accounted for as investment properties
when the rest of the definition of an investment
property is met. In such cases, the operating leases
concerned are accounted for as if they were finance
leases. Investment property is initially measured at
cost, including related transaction costs and where
applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition,
investment properties are carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined by
management of the Group at each reporting date
taking into account of any available valuation results
performed by external valuers. Fair value is based on
active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any
difference in the nature, location or condition of the
specific asset. If the information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation methods such as
recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash
flow projections. Changes in fair values are recorded in
the statement of profit or loss as a separate line item.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or
intangible assets not ready to use are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment.
Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting
date.

2.10Land use rights

Land in mainland China is state-owned and no
individual land ownership right exists. The Group
acquired the rights to certain land, and the premiums
paid for such rights are recorded as land use rights.
Land use rights are classified and accounted for
in accordance with the intended use of respective
properties as erected on the land.

For properties that are held for own use, corresponding
land use rights are regarded as right-of-use assets, and
are stated at cost and amortised over the use terms
using the straight-line method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10Land use rights (continued)

For properties that are under development and held for
sale, corresponding land use rights are accounted for
as part of the development costs, and are accounted
for in accordance with the policy stated in Note 2.7.

For properties that are held as investment properties,
corresponding land use rights are accounted for as
part of the costs, and are accounted for in accordance
with the policy stated in Note 2.8.

2.11Investments and other financial assets
2.11.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss), and

° those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
debt instruments, this will depend on the business
model in which the investment is held. For
investments in equity instruments, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an irrevocable
election at the time of initial recognition to account
for the equity investment at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“OCI”).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

2.11.1 Classification (continued)

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case
of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

2.11.2Recognition and measurement

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. The Group
classified its debt instruments into the following
measurement category:

e Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised or impaired. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
BEEE (ZER) GRAA

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

2 EXEEREBMEA)

CNRERAEMEREE(HF)
2111 5 % (&)

AEBREENZEEREX
SEEMNBREBRABT S
HEBREETEN DR -

RN HERE  AEBEIE
& B E E R A FE 0 (fis 3
FRATFEEBBERAK
MEREE)EEGFBR
MEERBORH KA
ESRMBEE - -BRAFESE
BEDSABRNEREEN
RHGMEARFEARBEHERX
8 -

2112 H it B

EFETA

EHTAMNERKRFEIOR
RAEEEBREENER
BARZEENRESRE
- AEEBEEHT
AEDRUTNETERR:

o BEEHMRA:FEWRE
BRRTRENEE
HZEEERERE
EHEXTOHRE R
B Rl % B 55 X ARG
E-HRBEBHEKA
A& B30 IR 5% R R
—HWMoMEBREN
U o 3K 85 B 0 B B X
H 2 3Rl B 7E AR
EEDZRTHER &
STMEEMH B
ARBER M RAG
AT BIA -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11Investments and other financial assets 21BRERHMEMEE (&)
(continued)
2.11.2 Recognition and measurement (continued) 2112 R F 5t £ (&)
Equity instruments #xmTA

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in OCI,
there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
such investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established. Changes
in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in other
gains/(losses) — net in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses
(and reversal of impairment losses) on equity
investments measured at financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income are
not reported separately from other changes in fair
value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

2.11.3Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
assets carried at amortised cost and financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk, Note 3.1(b) details how
the Group determines whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

Expected credit losses are a probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses (i.e the present value of
all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
financial assets.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the
Group applies the simplified approach permitted
by HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime
losses to be recognised from initial recognition
of the assets. The provision matrix is determined
based on historical observed default rates over
the expected life of the contract assets and trade
receivables with similar credit risk characteristics
and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. At
every reporting date the historical observed default
rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

Impairment on other receivables are measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit losses, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase
in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as
lifetime expected credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.11Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

2.11.4 Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in statements of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the relevant
company or the counterparty.

2.12Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers
for properties sold, leasing of properties or services
performed in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less provision
for impairment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13Contract assets and liabilities and cost for

obtaining contracts

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the
Group obtains rights to receive consideration from
the customer and assumes performance obligations
to transfer goods or services to the customer.
The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. The contract
is an asset and recognised as contract asset if
the measure of the remaining conditional rights to
consideration exceeds the satisfied performance
obligations. Conversely, the contract is a liability
and recognised as contract liabilities if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds
the measure of the remaining rights. Costs such as
stamp duty and sales commissions incurred directly
attributable to obtaining a contract, if recoverable, are
capitalised and recorded in contract assets.

For contracts where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised
property is different, the transaction price is adjusted
for the effects of a financing component, if significant.

2.14Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less, and bank overdrafts. In the consolidated and
Company’s statements of financial position, bank
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.

2.16Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value,
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17Borrowings costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowings
costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.18Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables
are classified as current liabilities if payment is due
within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that
it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the date of the statement of financial
position in the countries where the Company and
its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill, and the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the date of the
statement of financial position and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.
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e PR RME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHBRBEGE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued) 2.19 BNEAR IE FE FR 15 %t (48 )
(b) Deferred income tax (continued) (b) ELFH (&)
Outside basis differences IME = 22
Deferred income tax liabilities are provided N E B AT B A [ MK
on taxable temporary differences arising from &N AR E FTE AR FE
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controlled by the Group and it is probable that MmBfEn 78 B &k K% & iF
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foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable BIBRON e — S @ AE
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in place that gives the Group the ability to control HEE T ARERRE ADRA
the reversal of the temporary difference in the T8 B oK SR 4% 4 b 4 = 58
foreseeable future, deferred tax liability in relation BOE AT E R
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associate’s undistributed profits is not recognised. ERMERNEE=ERRE
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deductible temporary differences arising from Hi#@DO BEERENE
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that =8 B | S8 7 B B A M =
it is probable the temporary difference will reverse BEYLAKER S5
in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit HEKN B AR MmES/’)A]
available against which the temporary difference HREEEEERRIEL
can be utilised. FRiSTiEE °
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis.

2.20Employee benefits

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal and
provincial governments in the PRC under which the
Group and the PRC based employees are required to
make monthly contributions to these plans calculated
as a percentage of the employees’ salaries, subject to

a certain ceiling.

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing
and future retired PRC based employees payable under
the plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post-retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these plans
are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administrated funds managed by the

PRC government.

The contributions are recognised as employee benefit

expenses when they are due.

Ever Reach Group (Holdings) Company Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 BEASHEEBEE)

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.21 Provisions 2.21 15

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as
a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and
the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.22Financial guarantee liabilities

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a
financial liability at the time the guarantee is issued.
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